National Urogynecology Research Agenda 2023

A Path Forward for Advancing the Treatment and Management of Pelvic Floor Disorders

Developed by the AUGS Scientific Committee



Table of Contents

Research Agenda Participants	3
Introduction	5
Research Priorities	11
Section 1: Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms/Urinary Incontinence	11
Section 2: Pelvic Organ Prolapse	17
Section 3: Fecal Incontinence	21
Section 4: Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections	24
Section 5: Sexual Health in Women With Pelvic Floor Disorders	27
Section 6: Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis and Myofascial Pelvic Pain	30
Section 7: Health Disparities	37
Section 8: Moving Beyond Multidisciplinary Research	40
Section 9: Training Future Scientists	42
About AUGS	43

Copyright © 2023 American Urogynecologic Society.

This document reflects clinical and scientific advances and expert opinion as of the date issued, and is subject to change. The information should not be construed as dictating an exclusive course of treatment or procedure to be followed. Its content is not intended to be a substitute for professional medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment. The ultimate judgment regarding any specific procedure or treatment is to be made by the physician and patient in light of all circumstances presented by the patient.

It should be noted, the use of gender terminology fluctuates throughout the report based upon how the referenced studies refer to the patient population. The term "women" has been used to describe adult females aged 18 and older.



Research Agenda Participants

AUGS Scientific Committee

* Indicates section lead

Gena C. Dunivan, MD* *AUGS Scientific Committee Chair* University of Alabama at Birmingham

Colleen D. McDermott, MD, MSc, * *AUGS Scientific Committee Vice Chair* Mount Sinai Hospital, University of Toronto

Mary F. Ackenbom, MD, MSc* University of Pittsburgh

Sarah S. Boyd, MD* The Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine

Research Agenda Work Group * Indicates section lead

Marianna Alperin, MD, MS* University of California San Diego; Sanford Consortium for Regenerative Medicine

Jennifer T. Anger, MD, MPH University of California San Diego

Danielle D. Antosh, MD Houston Methodist Hospital

Adil E. Bharucha, MD, MBBS Mayo Clinic

Lori A. Birder, PhD University of Pittsburgh

Megan S. Bradley, MD University of Pittsburgh - Magee Womens Hospital

Elizabeth H. Brehman, DO, MS UPMC Harrisburg

Luiz Gustavo Oliveira Brito, MD, PhD University of Campinas

Heidi W Brown, MD, MAS University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health Dianne H. Glass, MD, PhD University of Chicago

Kristin M. Jacobs, MD* Rush University

Melanie R.L. Meister, MD, MSCI University of Kansas

Isuzu Meyer, MD, MSPH* University of Alabama at Birmingham

Pamela A. Moalli MD, PhD* University of Pittsburgh, Magee Womens Research Institute

Oluwateniola Brown, MD Northwestern University

Lindsey A. Burnett, PhD, MD* UC San Diego

Lauren E. Caldwell, MD The University of Texas at Austin Dell Medical School

Charelle M. Carter-Brooks, MD MSc George Washington University

Christopher J. Chermansky, MD UPMC Urology at Magee Womens Hospital

Sara B. Cichowski, MD Oregon Health & Sciences University

Kathleen A. Connell, MD University of Colorado School of Medicine

John O.L. DeLancey, MD University of Michigan

Margot S. Damaser, PhD Cleveland Clinic Julia K. Shinnick, MD* Women & Infants Hospital/Brown University

Jens-Erik Walter, MD * L'Université de Montréal McGill University

Aldene Zeno, MD The OB-Gyn and Incontinence Center

Nicole J. De Nisco, PhD The University of Texas at Dallas

Alexandra Dubinskaya, MD Cedars Sinai Medical Center

Marsha K. Guess, MD, MS The University of Colorado School of Medicine

Douglass Hale, MD Indiana University School of Medicine

Johanna L. Hannan, PhD Brody School of Medicine/East Carolina University

Rachel A. High, DO University of Texas at Austin Dell Medical Center/Ascension Seton

James A. Hokanson, PhD Medical College of Wisconsin

Robert S. Kelley, DO, MBA Emory University School of Medicine

Cassandra K. Kisby, MD, MS Duke Hospital National Urogynecology Research Agenda

Elizabeth Kravitz, MD Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania

Jerry L. Lowder, MD, MSc Washington University in St Louis School of Medicine

Alayne Markland, DO, MSc University of Alabama at Birmingham

Indira U Mysorekar, PhD Baylor College of Medicine

Candace Y. Parker-Autry, M Atrium Health Wake Forest Baptist

AUGS Staff Contributors

Stacey Barnes Interim Chief Executive Officer

Jill Rathburn Health Policy Consultant

Additional Contributors

Toby C. Chai, MD Boston Medical Center

Geoffrey Cundiff, MD University of British Columbia

Dee E. Fenner, MD University of Michigan

Cara L. Grimes, MD, MAS New York Medical College Westchester Medical Center Holly E. Richter, PhD, MD University of Alabama at Birmingham

Rebecca G. Rogers, MD Albany Medical Center

Renee Rolston, MD Albert Einstein College of Medicine -Montefiore Medical Center

Rachel Rubin, MD Georgetown University

David Sheyn, MD University Hospitals Cleveland Nazema Y. Siddiqui, MD, MHSc Duke University

Julie A. Suyama, MD, PhD UC San Diego/Kaiser Permanente San Diego

Maria I. Uloko, MD University of California, San Diego

Eva K. Welch, MD, MS San Antonio Military Medical Center

Alan J. Wolfe, PhD Loyola University Chicago

Veronica Valderrama Senior Director, Publications

Jenna Dean Senior Director, Membership and Marketing

Victoria L. Handa, MD, MHS Johns Hopkins Bayview Medical Center

Emily S. Lukacz, MD UC San Diego Health

Kate Meriwether, MD University of New Mexico Ingrid E. Nygaard, MD, MS University of Utah

David D. Rahn, MD University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center

Vivian Sung, MD, MPH Women and Infants Hospital/Brown Medical School

Introduction

Background

Pelvic floor disorders (PFDs) are common conditions that can significantly affect a woman's quality of life and include pelvic organ prolapse (POP), urinary incontinence (UI), and fecal incontinence (FI). Approximately 25% of women experience at least one PFD and this percentage is likely higher in those who are older than 65 years, as it is well established that all PFDs increase after menopause.^{1, 2}

Women's health research is woefully underfunded. A 2021 study found that in disease states that unequally affect one gender, a disproportionate amount of funding from the National Institute of Health (NIH) went to maledominated diseases. The authors found that in approximately 75% of cases the funding was provided to male dominated diseases.³ In addition to the disproportionately smaller amount of NIH research funding that is allocated to women's health, the majority goes to research involving reproductive-aged women and is often allocated specifically to pregnancy and maternity issues

(https://orwh.od.nih.gov/sites/orwh/files/docs/ORWH_Bie nnialReport2019_20_508.pdf).⁴ The Office of Research of Women's Health (ORWH) noted that of the proportion of the overall NIH research spending by disease, condition, and special initiative from FY 2017 to FY 2019, only 10% was allocated to women's health research; however, in that same year the proportion of that money spent on contraception and pregnancy was 78.6% of the total, despite the fact that women spend the minority of their lives bearing children

(https://orwh.od.nih.gov/sites/orwh/files/docs/ORWH_Bie nnialReport2019_20_508.pdf).⁴

The American Urogynecologic Society (AUGS) recognizes the importance of evaluating the conditions women face throughout their lives, including conditions that become more prevalent in the post-reproductive years. There is an urgent need to increase the amount of research funding directed towards women's health beyond maternity and reproductive care.

Women's health care should encompass the full life span of women, including conditions affecting postreproductive and geriatric women, the fastest growing segment of the U.S. population. As a result, AUGS undertook an advocacy campaign, with national funding institutions, to help promote funding to women's health, which is fundamentally necessary for improvement in women's health care. In addition, AUGS serves as a champion for increased national support for the training and career development of clinician scientists to promote continued research in women's health across the age spectrum.

A result of this advocacy was that the FY 2021 House report 116-450 adopted the below language:

Office of the NIH Director

Pelvic Floor Disorders-The committee recognizes that pelvic floor disorders, including such conditions as urinary incontinence, accidental bowel leakage, and pelvic organ prolapse, have a large financial impact on individuals and society, and significant negative quality of life impact for more than 25 million women annually, in the U.S. alone. The Committee urges NICHD, NIDDK, and NIA to collaborate, on the development of universally accepted disorder specific data sets for the purpose of research studies on patient outcomes of current and future therapies used to treat pelvic floor disorders and the pathogenesis of these conditions. The Committee requests that NICHD, NIDDK and NIA provide a report on current research and future initiatives to address pelvic floor disorders in the fiscal year 2022 Congressional Justification and provide timely updates to the Committee on advances being made with respect to prevention, treatment and understanding the mechanisms of these conditions.

AUGS' advocacy continued with Congress in 2022 with a result of the FY 2023 House 117-403 and the Senate Explanatory Statement FY 2023 Labor-HHS Bill adopting the following language:

Office of the NIH Director

Overactive Bladder Treatment—The Committee remains concerned about the safety of medications used to treat overactive bladder, which may be increasing risk of Alzheimer disease and related dementias (ADRD). Overactive bladder affects 38 million Americans, and one in three older adults in this country. Overactive bladder has a significant impact on quality of life and the healthcare system. The anticholinergic medications typically used first-line to treat overactive bladder have been shown to increase the risk of developing dementia. Dementia continues to grow as a prevalent and serious public health issue. The Committee urges NIA to study anticholinergic medications and alternative treatments to determine the safety and effectiveness of medications for overactive bladder, and their potential risks related to ADRD. The Committee requests an update on the status of research activities focused on this issue in the fiscal year 2024 CJ.

National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD)

Pelvic Floor Disorders - Pelvic floor disorders, including urinary incontinence, accidental bowel leakage, and pelvic organ prolapse, negatively impact the quality of life of more than 25 million U.S. women each year. There are socioeconomic disparities amongst women suffering from pelvic floor disorders, with differences in symptoms, knowledge, access to care, availability of treatments and treatment outcomes noted in patients from different backgrounds. The Committee urges NICHD to prioritize research activities into underrepresented patient populations and pelvic floor disorders. Such activities may include the development of educational programs for general practitioners, the evaluation of effectiveness of screening protocols for pelvic floor disorders in the primary care setting, investigating medical literacy amongst minority women as it pertains to pelvic floor disorders, as well as assessing socioeconomic and socio-cultural disease perspectives by designing qualitative studies using focus groups of women with varying socio-economic, cultural, and ethnic backgrounds. evaluating current educational resources, determining gaps in patient knowledge, and designing culture-specific educational materials and resources. The Committee requests an update on this research in the fiscal year 2024 Congressional Justification.

Purpose

At the direction of the AUGS Board of Directors, the AUGS Scientific Committee was charged with the task of creating a Research Agenda. The overarching goal of this document was to synthesize research priorities in the field of urogynecology, provide summaries of each condition, introduce current key gaps/priorities, and provide recommendations based on these gaps. Given their importance, the specific topics and opportunities to address health care disparities, multidisciplinary research, and training of future scientists are each highlighted in their own unique section.

Methods

The AUGS Scientific Committee first met virtually, and reviewed research guidance documents published by other societies (American Society of Hematology Agenda for Hematology Research, American Urological Association National Urology Research Agenda, Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology Recommendations for the Biden Administration, Society of Gynecologic Oncology Pathways to Progress in Women's Cancer, and American Society of Clinical Oncology Research Priorities), as well as the previous AUGS Research Recommendation statement that was published in 2011.⁵ This review allowed the committee to become familiar with the process required to create such a document and helped generate a template that the committee felt was appropriate for the intended agenda.

The Scientific Committee met and worked on generating topics felt to be of utmost importance to research in urogynecology. The contributors acknowledge that many of the research topics are complex and may require a multidisciplinary approach or have an etiology outside the purview of Urogynecology. However, all the topics identified were felt to be essential research areas related to pelvic floor disorders. Six topics were decided upon (Table 1) along with three overarching themes (Table 2).

Table 1: Identified Research Topics forUrogynecology

- Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms/Urinary Incontinence
- Pelvic Organ Prolapse
- Fecal Incontinence
- Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections
- Sexual Health in Women with Pelvic Floor
 Disorders
- Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis and Myofascial Pelvic Pain

A call was then sent out to the membership of AUGS looking for clinicians and researchers that would be interested in volunteering to work on the Research Agenda within one of these six topics. In choosing those who would be a part of these working groups, the Scientific Committee was looking for representation from across the United States and Canada, sought to have at least one basic science researcher in each group, and directly contacted certain researchers that were known to have expertise in particular areas of interest for each of the working groups. After the selection process was complete, each group had 7-10 volunteers. One member from the Scientific Committee then volunteered to be the lead for each of the groups. In addition, groups were provided with administrative support from AUGS. Each working group functioned independently and, therefore, individual sections will have unique differences in language and format.

Table 2: Overarching Themes /Additional Topics

- Health Disparities
- Moving Beyond Multidisciplinary Research
- Training Future Scientists



Each group first created a Background section for their topic. This section was focused on reviewing the literature and then describing the etiology and pathophysiology of the condition, the rationale and importance of studying the condition, as well as the societal and economic burden of each condition. The final Background document was generated and edited by each group after two to three meetings, followed by a final edit by a separate member of the Scientific Committee.

For the next section, each group member developed three to five Knowledge Gaps and/or Research Priorities within their topics. For those that were generated, the group members were also asked to develop Recommendations in response to the Knowledge Gaps and/or Research Priorities they had identified. Once a list of Knowledge Gaps and/or Research Priorities with corresponding Recommendations was generated based on the input of individual group members, each group independently met and discussed what broad themes had been recognized for each topic. Based on these themes, the list of Gaps/Priorities and Recommendations were categorized, and the group members worked together to decide which items should be included in or excluded from the document. Upon finalization of the list items, group members were each asked to edit a category to ensure accurate content and references. These were then sent back to the group lead who collated and refined the document. We acknowledge that there are a multitude of research gaps in each of these topics. However, through the process described above, the working groups identified and concluded upon these highlighted areas as the focus of this document. The revised product was sent back to the Scientific Committee where it underwent a final review by a separate committee member.

Once internal revisions were complete, the Research Agenda was reviewed and edited by nine external reviewers, and then subsequently by the AUGS Publications Committee and the AUGS Board of Directors. Edits were considered and revisions made accordingly to create this final document.

Results

The following is a summary of the six topics of interest identified for this Research Agenda.

Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms/Urinary Incontinence

Overactive bladder (OAB) in women has been estimated to affect millions with its greatest prevalence (over 50%) in adults ≥60 years old.¹² Stress urinary incontinence (SUI) affects 14-41% of biologic females between the ages of 30 years and 60 years.^{6, 7} Numerous studies have demonstrated the negative impact of OAB and SUI on independence, self-esteem, mental health conditions, and interpersonal relationships.⁸⁻¹¹ Voiding dysfunction is described using a variety of symptoms that depart from normal voiding sensation and function.¹² A large international survey study of a cohort of women older than 40 years reported 5.2% experienced voiding symptoms and 14.9% experienced coexisting voiding and storage symptoms.^{13, 14} The etiologies of voiding dysfunction in women are not well understood. Further, the understanding of the impact of voiding dysfunction on quality of life is limited in part due to the historic lack of validated questionnaires for female voiding dysfunction.

The following categories were identified as outstanding knowledge gaps for conditions of lower urinary tract symptoms:

- Clinical phenotyping
- Combined therapies
- Voiding dysfunction
- Health disparities
- CNS control mechanisms, neuromodulation and electrostimulation outcomes
- Biomaterials for stress urinary incontinence treatment
- Impact of pregnancy/childbirth on LUTS management
- Impact of anticholinergic medications on cognition

Pelvic Organ Prolapse

Pelvic organ prolapse (POP) is the descent of one or more of the anterior, posterior, or apical pelvic floor compartments that affects up to 50% of all women.¹⁵ This condition can severely impact quality of life, prompting 1 in 7 women in the United States to undergo surgical correction of POP.^{16, 17} Worsening POP has also been associated with deteriorating physical function, anxiety, depression, fatigue, sleep disturbance, and lower satisfaction with participation in social roles.¹⁸ Overall, the pathophysiologic mechanisms underlying the development, progression, and severity of POP are inadequately understood. No effective preventative strategies exist against POP and current treatment modalities are delayed and compensatory.

This working group elucidated Knowledge Gaps and Research Recommendations within each of the 6 areas noted below. With such research, knowledge around the pathophysiology of POP and the relative risk of whom it afflicts would be vastly increased. This would in turn improve our ability to predict or influence POP and, thereby, greatly impact the counseling and care of these patients. The 6 identified themes within POP that require further exploration in well-designed studies are the following:

- Normal and abnormal functional anatomy and biomechanics
- Molecular, cellular, genetic and biomechanical factors



- Therapies for prevention
- Treatment, treatment failure and recurrence
- Health disparities
- Societal impact and financial burden of treatment modalities

Fecal Incontinence

Fecal incontinence (FI), or accidental bowel leakage, defined as unintentional leakage of mucous, liquid, or solid stool is a prevalent condition, affecting up to 24% of women.¹⁹ FI has a profound negative impact on women's quality of life, as well as a substantial economic burden both at the individual and health care system levels. As a result of the associated stigma, women with FI often suffer in silence. As the prevalence increases with age, paralleling the rapidly growing aging population, the impact of FI on society will continue to expand.

Two broad themes to reduce the burden of FI were recognized:

- To optimize the effectiveness of existing treatments and to develop more effective treatments through various research initiatives (basic science, translational, and clinical research)
- To better understand the psychosocial consequences and provide support to alleviate the burden of living with FI

Research gaps were identified, and recommendations were provided for the following categories:

- Pathogenesis
- Classifications of FI Types
- Treatments and Prevention
- Reporting/Validated Measures
- Psychosocial Consequences and Providing Support
- Research Inclusion/Diversity

Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are some of the most common bacterial and fungal infections, and they disproportionately affect women. More than one half of women have one UTI in their lifetime, and approximately one third develop recurrent UTI (rUTI). Women suffering from rUTIs experience burdens related to symptoms and treatment, including side-effects from antibiotics and risks posed by multi-drug and azole resistant bacteria. Despite the substantial impact of rUTI, there is a paucity of evidence upon which to base accurate diagnosis, treatment, and prevention.

The rUTI working group identified the following research categories:

- Characterization of host-microbial interaction in the female bladder and with neighboring microbial niches
- Biomarker rapid detection

• Patient centered outcomes and care equity

Recommendations around these categories generally focused on large, multi-center, socioeconomically diverse studies that explore patient-centered outcomes and the impact of rUTI in diverse communities.

Sexual Health in Women with Pelvic Floor Disorders

Patients with pelvic floor disorders (PFD) have a high prevalence of sexual dysfunction and lack of improvement in sexual function after pelvic reconstructive surgery is viewed by patients as a serious complication. Patients may be embarrassed by urine loss during sexual activity, how their genitalia look, and/or express concerns that their prolapse may prohibit sexual activity.^{20, 21} The societal and economic burden of sexual dysfunction in women with PFDs is high. A more thorough understanding of the prevalence of sexual dysfunction among each of the individual pelvic floor disorders is essential. There is an urgent need to raise awareness and the importance of sexual function in women with PFDs and to investigate treatments and solutions rather than simply defining the conditions.^{22, 23}

Knowledge gaps included the need to:

- Improve Overall Understanding of Basic Anatomy and Physiology and How They Relate to Sexual Function
- Standardization in Terminology, Screening and Reporting
- Patient Centered Counseling and Changes with PFDs Surgery on Sexual Function
- Explore Sexual Health and Dysfunction in Understudied Populations with PFDs

Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis and Myofascial Pelvic Pain

Bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis (BPS/IC) and myofascial pelvic pain (MFPP) are two chronic pain conditions that are commonly assessed and treated by urogynecologists. BPS/IC is characterized by bladder pain with associated urinary urgency, frequency, and nocturia lasting greater than 6 weeks in the absence of other identifiable causes.24 BPS/IC symptoms are common, yet the condition is often underdiagnosed with a lack of understanding the disease pathogenesis. The etiology of BPS/IC is multifactorial with interactions between autoimmune, neuroendocrine, allergic, and infectious pathways.^{25, 26} MFPP can be acute; however the chronic syndrome is characterized by pain originating from the pelvic floor muscles.²⁷ MFPP is persistent or episodic and occurs in the absence of a local pathological condition with symptoms suggestive of lower urinary tract, sexual, bowel or gynecological dysfunction.²⁸⁻³² The etiology of MFPP is also not well understood and is likely



multifactorial. Several theories have been suggested including metabolic imbalance at the motor end plate in peripheral tissue, central sensitization of pain, and neuromuscular microtrauma.³³⁻³⁶

Both pain conditions warrant significant research attention as they are underrecognized and/or disregarded but are notable sources of pelvic pain and other pelvic symptoms. For BPS/IC, four categories were identified:

- Diagnosis
- Disease Phenotypes
- Current Treatments
- Treatments on the Horizon

For MFPP, the following categories were included:

- Prevalence
- Etiology
- Diagnosis
- Treatment

For each of these categories, Knowledge Gaps/Research Priorities were elaborated on with Recommendations given for each.

Conclusion

There are extensive areas to be explored in women's health research. The main goal of this Research Agenda was to synthesize and present key gaps and research priorities for a variety of PFDs. There is a clear need to increase funding to investigate these crucial topics. The intention is that this agenda will serve as a living document to be updated as knowledge advances and research priorities evolve. This document will also help to guide researchers when putting forth funding applications and should be used by PFD advocates when championing for research dollars that can be directed toward women's health care beyond reproduction.

- Nygaard I, Barber MD, Burgio KL, et al; Pelvic Floor Disorders Network. Prevalence of symptomatic pelvic floor disorders in US women. JAMA. 2008 Sep 17;300(11):1311-6. PMID: 18799443.
- Dieter AA, Wilkins MF, Wu JM. Epidemiological trends and future care needs for pelvic floor disorders. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Oct;27(5):380-4. PMID: 26308198.
- Mirin AA. Gender Disparity in the Funding of Diseases by the U.S. National Institutes of Health. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2021 Jul;30(7):956-963. Epub 2020 Nov 27. PMID: 33232627.
- 4. National Institutes of Health. Report of the Advisory Committee on Research on Women's Health: Fiscal Years 2019-2020. Office of Research on Women's Health and NIH Support for Research on Women's Health (<u>https://orwh.od.nih.gov/sites/orwh/files/docs/ORWH_Bienni</u> <u>alReport2019_20_508.pdf</u>)

- Nygaard I, Chai TC, Cundiff GW, et al. Summary of research recommendations from the inaugural American Urogynecologic Society research summit. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2011 Jan;17(1):4-7. Doi: 10.1097/SPV.0b013e3182042168. PMID: 22453666.
- Aoki Y, Brown HW, Brubaker L, et al. Urinary incontinence in women. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017 Nov 16;3:17097. Erratum for: Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017 Jul 06;3:17042. PMID: 29143807.
- Hunskaar S, Arnold EP, Burgio K, et al. Epidemiology and natural history of urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2000;11(5):301-19. PMID: 11052566.
- Norton PA, MacDonald LD, Sedgwick PM, et al. Distress and delay associated with urinary incontinence, frequency, and urgency in women. BMJ. 1988 Nov 5;297(6657):1187-9. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.297.6657.1187. PMID: 3144344.
- Imamura M, Abrams P, Bain C, et al. Systematic review and economic modelling of the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of non-surgical treatments for women with stress urinary incontinence. Health Technol Assess 2010;14(40). PMID: 20738930.
- Kinsey D, Pretorius S, Glover L, et al. The psychological impact of overactive bladder: A systematic review. J Health Psychol. 2016 Jan;21(1):69-81. PMID: 24591118.
- Vrijens D, Drossaerts J, van Koeveringe G, et al Affective symptoms and the overactive bladder – a systematic review. J Psychosom Res. 2015 Feb;78(2):95-108. PMID: 25499886.
- 12. Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, et al. International Urogynecological Association; International Continence Society. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):4-20. PMID: 19941278.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Thompson CL, et al. The prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) in the USA, the UK and Sweden: results from the Epidemiology of LUTS (EpiLUTS) study. BJU Int. 2009 Aug;104(3):352-60. Epub 2009 Mar 5. PMID: 19281467.
- 14. Espuña-Pons M, Cardozo L, Chapple C, et al. Overactive bladder symptoms and voiding dysfunction in neurologically normal women. Neurourol Urodyn. 2012 Apr;31(4):422-8. Doi: 10.1002/nau.21252. Epub 2012 Mar 14. PMID: 22419262.
- 15. Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, et al. An International Urological Association/International Continence Society joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2010 Jan;21(1):5-26. Doi: 10.1007/s00192-009-0976-9. Epub 2009 Nov 25. PMID: 19937315.
- Barber MD, Maher C. Epidemiology and outcome assessment of pelvic organ prolapse. *Int Urogynecol J.* 2013;24(11):1783-90. PMID: 24142054
- Wu JM, Hundley AF, Fulton RG, et al. Forecasting the prevalence of pelvic floor disorders in U.S. Women: 2010 to 2050. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;114(6):1278-1283. PMID: 19935030
- 18. Bochenska K, Hall E, Griffith JW, et al. The Promise of PROMIS in Pelvic Organ Prolapse. *Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg.* 2019;25(6):426-429. PMID: 30570502.
- Varma MG, Brown JS, Creasman JM, et al; Reproductive Risks for Incontinence Study at Kaiser (RRISK) Research Group. Fecal incontinence in females older than aged 40



years: who is at risk? Dis Colon Rectum. 2006 Jun;49(6):841-51. PMID: 16741640.

- 20. Antosh DD, Kim-Fine S, Meriwether KV, et al. Changes in sexual activity and function after pelvic organ prolapse surgery: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2020; 136(5): 922-931. PMID: 33030874
- 21. Dunivan GC, Sussman AL, Jelovsek JE, et al; Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Pelvic Floor Disorders Network. Gaining the patient perspective on pelvic floor disorders' surgical adverse events. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019 Feb;220(2):185.e1-185.e10. PMID: 30612960.
- 22. Rogers RG, Rockwood TH, Constantine ML, et al. A new measure of sexual function in women with pelvic floor disorders (PFD): the Pelvic Organ Prolapse/Incontinence Sexual Questionnaire, IUGA-Revised (PISQ-IR). Int Urogynecol J. 2013 Jul;24(7):1091-103. PMID: 23632798.
- 23. Rosen R, Brown C, Heiman J, et al. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): a multidimensional self-report instrument for the assessment of female sexual function. J Sex Marital Ther. 2000 Apr-Jun;26(2):191-208. PMID: 10782451.
- Hanno P, Dmochowski R. Status of international consensus on interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome/painful bladder syndrome: 2008 snapshot. Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28:274–286. PMID: 19260081.
- 25. Tanaka T, Nitta Y, Morimoto K, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis resistant to conventional treatments: long-term results of a case series in Japan. BMC Urol. 2011 May 24;11:11. PMID: 21609485.
- 26. van Ophoven A, Rossbach G, Oberpenning F, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen for the treatment of interstitial cystitis: long-term results of a prospective pilot study. Eur Urol. 2004 Jul;46(1):108-13. PMID: 15183555.
- 27. Frawley H, Shelly B, Morin M, et al. An International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for

pelvic floor muscle assessment. Neurourol Urodyn. 2021;40(5):1217-1260. PMID: 33844342.

- 28. Bo K, Frawley HC, Haylen BT, et al. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for the conservative and nonpharmacological management of female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2017;28(2):191-213. PMID: 27921161.
- 29. Adams S, Dessie S, Dodge LE, et al. Pelvic floor physical therapy as primary treatment for pelvic floor disorders with urinary urgency and frequency-predominant symptoms. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015;21:252. PMID: 26313494.
- Dixon AM, Fitzgerald CM, Brincat C. Severity and bother of prolapse symptoms in women with pelvic floor myofascial pain. Int Urogynecol J. 2019, PMID 30874833.
- 31. Wolff BJ, Joyce CJ, Brincat CA, et al. Pelvic floor myofascial pain in patients with symptoms of urinary tract infection. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2019;145(2):205-211. PMID: 30758844
- 32. Meister MR, Sutcliffe S, Badu A, et al. Pelvic floor myofascial pain severity and pelvic floor disorder symptom bother: is there a correlation? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019 Sep;221(3):235.e1-235.e15. PMID: 31319079.
- Spitznagle TM, Robinson CM. Myofascial pelvic pain. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2014 Sep;41(3):409-32.. PMID: 25155122.
- 34. Gerwin RD, Dommerholt J, Shah JP. An expansion of Simons' integrated hypothesis of trigger point formation. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2004 Dec;8(6):468-75. Doi: 10.1007/s11916-004-0069-x. PMID: 15509461.
- 35. Kuner R. Central mechanisms of pathological pain. Nat Med. 2010 Nov;16(11):1258-66. PMID: 20948531.
- Bron C, Dommerholt JD. Etiology of myofascial trigger points. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2012 Oct;16(5):439-44. PMID: 22836591.

Research Priorities

Section 1: Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms/Urinary Incontinence

Background

"Lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS)" is an umbrella descriptor for symptoms related to the storage and voiding of urine. Conditions associated with lower urinary tract symptoms include overactive bladder (OAB), stress urinary incontinence (SUI), as well as neurogenic and non-neurogenic voiding dysfunction.

Overactive Bladder

OAB is a sudden urge to urinate that may be associated with one or all of the following symptoms: frequency (voiding 8 or more times per day), nocturia, and urgency urinary incontinence (UUI).¹ OAB may be due to an overt pathologic process such as an underlying neurologic disease, cardiovascular condition, side-effect of medication, or prior bladder surgery. However, the majority of OAB is classified as idiopathic.²⁻⁷ The inability to differentiate forms of OAB is reflected in the current treatment algorithms, which are based on the invasiveness and risk of each modality and often recommended globally regardless of the etiology of a particular patient's symptoms.^{8, 9} This approach results in relatively high-treatment failure rates and often with only moderate resolution of symptoms.¹⁰

OAB is estimated to affect millions of women globally, particularly those older than 60 years (as more than 50%) in this group reported OAB symptoms).¹¹ OAB has a significant impact on quality of life, with almost 40% reporting interference with activities of daily living, including the inability to leave the house.¹²⁻¹⁴ Studies have also found that OAB negatively impacts mental health self-esteem, sexual conditions. function, and interpersonal relationships.^{15,16} Estimates of OAB in the long-stay nursing facilities is limited. However, an analysis of Medicare beneficiaries demonstrated that 36% of residents had OAB, and that UUI is one of the most important predictors of future institutionalization in older adults.^{17, 18} In addition, there are significant medical consequences associated with this condition. An epidemiological study of patients with OAB demonstrated that these patients had an increased risk of falls and fractures by 28% and 32%, respectively.19

A 2009 analysis found that annual spending in the United States on OAB was over \$65 billion, with an estimate to be between \$76 and \$83 billion.^{20, 21} Further, it has been reported that OAB patients spent a median of 2.5 times more on care than similar patients without OAB.^{20, 21} A similar study in the United Kingdom found expenditures exceeding 7 billion euros annually for OAB patients.²² The overall global burden of OAB is not well described, but it is believed to occur with similar frequency in most localities. It is estimated that the total number of patients with OAB will increase to over 400 million by 2030 in the 8 major markets of China, United States, United Kingdom, Germany, Japan, Spain, Italy, and France (GlobalData website).²³ The true global incidence of OAB, as well as the economic and social burden, is unknown and likely much greater.

Stress Urinary Incontinence

SUI is the leakage of urine associated with increased intra-abdominal pressure, such as with coughing, sneezing, physical exertion. Leakage occurs when pressure on the bladder contents overcomes the outlet resistance provided by the anatomical continence mechanism. It occurs in approximately 14 41% of women between the ages of 30 and 60 years, peaking in the fifth decade of life.^{24, 25} The major risk factors for SUI in women are pregnancy, vaginal delivery, increasing parity, obesity, increasing age, and postmenopausal status.^{26, 27}

Studies have reported that many women with SUI suffer from depression, introverted behavior, and dysfunctional interpersonal relationships attributable to SUI symptoms.^{27, 28} Additionally, studies have reported women with SUI often withdraw from regular physical activities, which can lead to impairments in overall health.27 Among women who are moderately to extremely bothered by SUI symptoms, only 46.6% reported having ever talked with a physician about incontinence.²⁹

In the United States, SUI is an enormous financial burden with over \$12 billion spent annually on the condition, and patients paying 70% out-of-pocket for routine care costs including expenditures for pads, diapers, laundry, and dry cleaning.³⁰ A large study recently found that women spent nearly \$750 per year for incontinence management and that women were willing to pay nearly \$1,400 per year for a cure.³¹



Voiding Dysfunction

Voiding symptoms are a departure from normal sensation or function during or following the act of micturition.¹¹ Voiding symptoms may be described as a delay (hesitancy) in initiating micturition, a need to strain to void, a sensation of incomplete bladder emptying, and a need to void again soon after passing urine. The relationship of postvoid residual volumes with voiding symptoms is unclear in the existing literature; in part due to lack of diagnostic criteria for chronic urinary retention.³² A 2017 consensus report from the American Urological Association defined non-neurogenic chronic urinary retention as an elevated postvoid residual of > 300 mL that has persisted for at least 6 months on two or more separate occasions.33 The etiology of voiding symptoms is generally not well understood. In an international survey of women who were older than 40 years, 5.2% had isolated voiding symptoms while 14.9% had coexisting voiding and storage symptoms.^{32, 34} Neurogenic voiding dysfunction is characterized by the presence of relevant neurological pathology in the setting of voiding symptoms as described above.³⁵ For this research agenda, the writing aroup decided to focus on non-neurogenic voiding dysfunction.

Non-neurogenic voiding dysfunction, a diagnosis by symptoms and urodynamic investigations, is defined as abnormally slow and/or incomplete micturition.¹¹ Pressure-flow studies estimate etiologies such as detrusor underactivity or bladder outflow obstruction; however, there is no consensus in female bladder outlet obstruction and detrusor underactivity diagnostic criteria.¹¹ Management of voiding dysfunction depends on etiologies, which may be functional, anatomic (prolapse, urethral stricture), or iatrogenic.

The impact of voiding symptoms, with or without urinary retention, on quality of life is poorly understood in part due to a historic lack of validated questionnaires for female voiding dysfunction. Previous estimates of prevalence used questionnaire tools designed for males with prostate pathology.³² The single validated tool to assess storage and voiding symptoms in women, the Symptoms of Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction Research Network (LURN) Symptom Index-10 (SI-10), is fairly new and has not yet been extensively integrated into clinical research.³⁶ Health sequelae and associated societal, economic, and personal burdens specific to non-neurogenic female voiding dysfunction are unknown. Cost analyses of such burdens require data regarding the condition-specific impact on quality of life and reported clinical outcome measures with therapy.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Clinical Phenotyping

Research Gap: Overactive bladder syndrome is loosely defined in order to encompass a range of varying phenotypes, including nocturia and urinary urgency incontinence (UUI). However, treatment efficacy varies widely and necessitates increased attention to how particular patient characteristics and symptoms may be used to guide treatment.^{10, 37} The Symptoms of Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction Research Network has focused on the specification of clinical phenotypes of OAB, but an absence of knowledge remains. There are not established clinical and patient genotypes and phenotypes within OAB, UUI, urinary urgency/frequency and nocturia.

Recommendations:

- Characterize LUTS clusters and investigate their association to treatment responsiveness.
- Identify biomarkers (including brain imaging findings, serum/plasma/urine markers), functional assessment measures (including frailty evaluations and cognitive assessments), and physiologic assessment measures (including neurologic testing, POP-Q measurements, urodynamic measures) specific to individual phenotype profiles to objectively correlate symptoms and treatment outcomes.
- Examine improved diagnostic testing (including home testing, enhanced urethral testing) that may contribute to clinical phenotype profiles.

Combined Therapies

Research Gap: There is a need to understand the potential benefit from combined therapies (pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic) to treat urinary incontinence (UI) in meeting patients' treatment goals compared to the use of monotherapy. Typically, UI is treated with one modality that then follows a progressive linear pathway. In this siloed approach, if one treatment modality fails, that treatment is discontinued and the next treatment in the pathway is initiated without consideration of alternate combination modalities utilizing an additive model that would combine therapies. Few studies have evaluated the effectiveness of combined therapies and have had mixed results.^{38, 39}

Recommendations:

- Evaluate the potential synergistic benefit of combined therapies in subjective and objective patient outcomes.
- Examine predictors of patient-defined treatment success with combined therapies (which can include symptom responsiveness, satisfaction, preference, etc.) for LUTS conditions.

Voiding Dysfunction

Research Gap: There is a significant knowledge gap in the understanding of the approach to better streamline patients in getting timely diagnosis, and effective treatment for voiding dysfunction. Initial treatments for voiding dysfunction include timed voiding, clean intermittent catheterization, pelvic floor muscle (PFM) relaxation training with biofeedback, and alpha-blocker pharmacotherapy. However, there remains a paucity of rigorous research examining treatment outcomes for adult women with voiding dysfunction, as the majority of nomograms of voiding parameters were collected from men.

Recommendations:

- Increase the understanding of prevalence and magnitude of voiding dysfunction in women through the development of tools to assess symptoms and the establishment of standardized nomenclature and approaches to the diagnoses that connect signs/symptoms with objective findings.
- Conduct research using robust research design methodology in adult women with underactive bladder and voiding dysfunction that compares PFM relaxation and biofeedback alone to standard behavioral modifications (including hydration, scheduled voiding, toilet training, and diet) combined with PFM relaxation and biofeedback.
- Evaluate the impact of preemptive biofeedback, behavioral modifications, and pelvic floor physical therapy on treatment outcomes of subsequent sacral neuromodulation therapy.

Health Disparities

Research Gap: Health disparities are a major public health issue, which influence urogynecologic care and outcomes. Their impact on LUTS has not been well examined and necessitates further research. While barriers to care for specific minority populations have been identified, race/ethnic information is frequently not reported in research and often such cohorts are racially/ethnically homogenous. Current guidelines for the treatment of LUTS rely on studies with cohorts of participants that do not represent the racial and ethnic distributions in our communities.⁴⁰⁻⁴²

Recommendations:

- Establish self-report methods that are all-inclusive when attaining race and ethnicity information from study participants.
- Examine the role of discrimination, marginalization, and systemic racism on access to care and management/treatment outcomes in racial/ethnic minority populations, particularly including studies with the framework that disparities in LUTS experience, treatment, and outcomes between racial

and ethnic groups are not issues with a biological basis.

 Improve racial/ethnic representation by championing efforts to recruit racial and ethnic minority individuals into LUTS research studies at proportions similar to national racial/ethnic distributions.

CNS Control Mechanisms, Neuromodulation and Electrostimulation Outcomes

Research Gap: There is a paucity of knowledge on the impact of changing the stimulation pattern and/or location of CNS control mechanisms, neuromodulation and electrostimulation therapy performance. Neuromodulation and electrostimulation therapies for incontinence, specifically sacral nerve stimulation and tibial nerve stimulation, have been used in people for over two decades. Advances throughout the years have occurred in device design (including magnetic resonance imaging [MRI] compatibility, battery, implantable tibial stimulator) and technical advances in surgical approach (including curved stylet, importance of low thresholds. However, to date there have been no changes in CNS control mechanisms. neuromodulation or electrostimulation that improve efficacy based on changes in stimulation pattern or location.

Recommendations:

- ✓ Examine changes in physiology with responders and non-responders to CNS control mechanisms, neuromodulation and electrostimulation to determine mechanisms of action.
- Compare physiological measurements before and after stimulation in both groups to gain insight into how these therapies work.
- Utilize animal models to focus on the examination of changes in physiological parameters beyond just functional (including beyond bladder capacity, voiding efficiency, intermicturition interval) in response to changing stimulation location and stimulation pattern.

Materials for Stress Urinary Incontinence Treatment

Research Gap: The safety and efficacy of treatment for SUI using biomaterials is not fully understood. Current treatments include procedures using synthetic materials to address the mechanical deficiencies of the urethra and its support structures; synthetic material complications remain a concern. The complications associated with autologous fascial slings and ineffectiveness of allograft biologic materials have limited their clinical use^{.43}

Recommendations:

 Examine biologic and/or synthetic materials that can provide biocompatibility without sacrificing durability.



 Evaluate regenerative therapies to restore the strength and function of the urethral sphincter and support structures.

Impact of Pregnancy/Childbirth on LUTS Management

Research Gap: There is a significant depth and breadth of literature on how pregnancy impacts LUTS in later life. However, other than childbirth injury, relatively little is known about what anatomic and physiologic changes related to pregnancy and the peripartum period (including the first year after delivery) lead to the development of LUTS, what qualities are associated with spontaneous resolution of symptoms, and how quality of life is impacted in young adults compared to older adults. Even less is known about what the optimal treatment options are for people who have not yet completed childbearing.

Recommendations:

- Attain a better understanding of how pregnancy and the peripartum period lead to the development of LUTS through examination of predisposing factors (including genetics, family history, neurologic symptoms, pelvic floor muscle loading function in peripartum/intrapartum states, labor, route of delivery).
- Examine factors associated with symptom resolution versus symptom persistence in parous women which could ultimately lead to the provision of targeted treatment for those patients who may most benefit from intervention without overtreatment.
- Evaluate the impact of future childbirth among people who have not yet completed childbearing with regards to the continued efficacy of conservative treatments (pelvic floor therapy, tibial nerve stimulation, behavioral modification, intravaginal devices) as compared to mid-urethral sling placement, urethral bulking, and sacral neuromodulation.

Impact of Anticholinergic Medications on Cognition

Research Gap: There is a significant knowledge gap centered on the relationship between OAB and cognitive function as well as the relationship between anticholinergic medication use and cognitive impairment. Pharmacologic management of urgency urinary incontinence has historically included the use of nonselective muscarinic antagonists. However, recent evidence has suggested an association of long-term anticholinergic use with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias (ADRD).^{44, 45}

Recommendations:

✓ Assess the temporal relationship between overactive bladder and cognitive decline through large health care databases and prospective studies or registries.

- Evaluate the safety and effectiveness of anticholinergics and beta-3 agonists related to ADRD.
- ✓ Identify the knowledge gaps of clinicians and patients as well as systematic barriers contributing to utilization of anticholinergic OAB medications in patients.

- Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, et al. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21:5-26. PMID: 19937315
- Lukacz ES, Santiago-Lastra Y, Albo ME, et al. Urinary Incontinence in Women: A Review. JAMA. 2017;318(16):1592-1604. PMID: 29067433.
- Sakakibara R. Lower urinary tract dysfunction in patients with brain lesions. Handb Clin Neurol. 2015;130:269-87. PMID: 26003249.
- Lai H, Gardner V, Vetter J, Andriole GL. Correlation between psychological stress levels and the severity of overactive bladder symptoms. BMC Urol. 2015 Mar 8;15:14. PMID: 25887525.
- Schimit GTF, Gregorio EP, Averbeck MA, et al. Is There a Link Between Carotid Atherosclerosis and Idiopathic Overactive Bladder Among Women with Metabolic Syndrome? Res Rep Urol. 2020;12:43-48. PMID: 32110552.
- Maserejian NN, Giovannucci EL, McVary KT, et al. Intakes of vitamins and minerals in relation to urinary incontinence, voiding, and storage symptoms in women: a cross-sectional analysis from the Boston Area Community Health survey. Eur Urol. 2011;59(6):1039-47. PMID: 21444148.
- Kenton K, Lowenstein L, Simmons J, et al. Aging and overactive bladder may be associated with loss of urethral sensation in women. Neurourol Urodyn. 2007;26(7):981-4. PMID: 17626276.
- Lightner DJ, Gomelsky A, Souter L, et al. Diagnosis and Treatment of Overactive Bladder (Non-Neurogenic) in Adults: AUA/SUFU Guideline Amendment 2019. J Urol. 2019;202(3):558-563. PMID: 31039103.
- Maman K, Aballea S, Nazir J, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of medical treatments for the management of overactive bladder: a systematic literature review and mixed treatment comparison. Eur Urol. 2014 Apr;65(4):755-65. PMID: 24275310.
- Amundsen CL, Richter HE, Menefee SA, et al. OnabotulinumtoxinA vs Sacral Neuromodulation on Refractory Urgency Urinary Incontinence in Women: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016;316(13):1366-1374. PMID: 27701661.
- Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, et al; International Urogynecological Association; International Continence Society. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):4-20. PMID: 19941278.

- 12. Dmochowski RR, Newman DK. Impact of overactive bladder on women in the United States: results of a national survey. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007 Jan;23(1):65-76. PMID: 17257467.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Clemens JQ, et al. The impact of OAB on physical activity in the United States: results from OAB-POLL. Urology. 2013 Oct;82(4):799-806. PMID: 23953610.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Thompson CL, et al. Impact of overactive bladder on work productivity. Urology. 2012 Jul;80(1):97-103. PMID: 22748868.
- Kinsey D, Pretorius S, Glover L, et al. The psychological impact of overactive bladder: A systematic review. J Health Psychol. 2016 Jan;21(1):69-81. PMID: 24591118.
- Vrijens D, Drossaerts J, van Koeveringe G, et al. Affective symptoms and the overactive bladder – a systematic review. J Psychosom Res. 2015 Feb;78(2):95-108. PMID: 25499886.
- 17. Reynolds WS, Fowke J, Dmochowski R. The burden of overactive bladder on US public health. Curr Bladder Dysfunct Rep. 2016;11;8-13. PMID: 27057265.
- Nuotio M, Tammela TLJ, Luukkaala T, et al. Predictors of institutionalization in an older population during a 13-year period: The effect of urge incontinence. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2003;58:756-62. PMID: 12902536.
- Brown JS, Vittinghoff E, Wyman JF, et al. Urinary incontinence: Does it increase risk for falls and fractures? Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2000;48:721-5. PMID: 10894308.
- Durden E, Walker D, Gray S, et al. The economic burden of overactive bladder and its effects on the costs associated with other chronic, age-related comorbidities in the United States. Neurourol Urodyn. 2018;37:1641-49. PMID: 29464813.
- 21. Ganz ML, Smalarz AM, Krupski TL, et al. Economic costs of overactive bladder in the United States. Urology. 2010 Mar;75(3):526-32, 532.e1-18. PMID: 20035977.
- Milsom I, Coyne KS, Nicholson S, et al. Global prevalence and economic burden of urgency urinary incontinence: a systematic review. Eur Urol. 2014 Jan;65(1):79-95. Doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2013.08.031. Epub 2013 Aug 27. PMID: 24007713.
- 23. GlobalData. <u>https://www.globaldata.com/total-prevalent-cases-overactive-bladder-reach-401-6-million-2030-8mm-says-globaldata/</u>, Accessed April 30, 2022.
- Aoki Y, Brown HW, Brubaker L, et al. Urinary incontinence in women. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017 Nov 16;3:17097. Erratum for: Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017 Jul 06;3:17042. PMID: 29143807.
- 25. Hunskaar S, Arnold EP, Burgio K, et al. Epidemiology and natural history of urinary incontinence. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2000;11(5):301-19. Doi: 10.1007/s001920070021. PMID: 11052566
- 26. MacLennan AH, Taylor AW, Wilson DH, et al. The prevalence of pelvic floor disorders and their relationship to gender, age, parity and mode of delivery. BJOG. 2000 Dec;107(12):1460-70. Doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2000.tb11669.x. PMID: 11192101.
- 27. Imamura M, Abrams P, Bain C, et al. Systematic review and economic modelling of the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of non-surgical treatments for women with
- 40. Gonzalez DC, Khorsandi S, Mathew M, et al. A systematic review of racial/ethnic disparities in female

stress urinary incontinence. Health Technol Assess 2010;14(40). PMID: 20738930.

- Norton PA, MacDonald LD, Sedgwick PM, et al. Distress and delay associated with urinary incontinence, frequency, and urgency in women. BMJ. 1988 Nov 5;297(6657):1187-9. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.297.6657.1187. PMID: 3144344.
- Fultz NH, Burgio K, Diokno AC, et al. Burden of stress urinary incontinence for community-dwelling women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003 Nov;189(5):1275-82. PMID: 14634553.
- Chong EC, Khan AA, Anger JT. The financial burden of stress urinary incontinence among women in the United States. Curr Urol Rep. 2011 Oct;12(5):358-62. Doi: 10.1007/s11934-011-0209-x. PMID: 21847532.
- Subak LL, Brubaker L, Chai TC, et al; Urinary Incontinence Treatment Network. High costs of urinary incontinence among women electing surgery to treat stress incontinence. Obstet Gynecol. 2008 Apr;111(4):899-907. Doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e31816a1e12. PMID: 18378749; PMCID: PMC2593129.
- Espuña-Pons M, Cardozo L, Chapple C, et al. Overactive bladder symptoms and voiding dysfunction in neurologically normal women. Neurourol Urodyn. 2012 Apr;31(4):422-8. PMID: 22419262.
- Stoffel JT, Peterson AC, Sandhu JS, et al. AUA White Paper on Nonneurogenic Chronic Urinary Retention: Consensus Definition, Treatment Algorithm, and Outcome End Points. J Urol. 2017 Jul;198(1):153-160. Doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2017.01.075. Epub 2017 Feb 3. PMID: 28163030.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Thompson CL, et al. The prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) in the USA, the UK and Sweden: results from the Epidemiology of LUTS (EpiLUTS) study. BJU Int. 2009 Aug;104(3):352-60. PMID: 19281467.
- Gajewski JB, Schurch B, Hamid R, et al. An International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for adult neurogenic lower urinary tract dysfunction (ANLUTD). Neurourol Urodyn. 2018 Mar;37(3):1152-1161. PMID: 29149505.
- Cella D, Smith AR, Griffith JW, et al; LURN Study Group. A New Brief Clinical Assessment of Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms for Women and Men: LURN SI-10. J Urol. 2020 Jan;203(1):164-170. PMID: 31364922.
- Tyagi P. Pathophysiology of the urothelium and detrusor. Can Urol Assoc J. 2011 Oct;5(5 Suppl 2):S128-30. PMID: 21989522.
- Sung VW, Borello-France D, Newman DK, et al. Effect of behavioral and pelvic floor muscle therapy combined with surgery vs surgery alone on incontinence symptoms among women with mixed urinary incontinence. JAMA. 2019;322:1066-76. PMID: 31529007.
- Drake MJ, Chapple C, Esen AA, et al. Efficacy and safety of mirbegron add-on therapy to solifenacin in incontinent overactive bladder patients with an inadequate response to initial 4-week solifenacin monotherapy.Eur Urol. 2016;70:136-45. PMID: 26965560.



pelvic floor disorders. Urology. 2022 May;163:8–15. PMID: 34627869

- Brown O, Simon MA. Applying a health equity lens to urinary incontinence. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2021 Jun 1;64(2):266–275. PMID: 33859095
- Brown O, Siddique M, Mou T, et al. Disparity of racial/ethnic representation in publications contributing to overactive bladder diagnosis and treatment guidelines. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2021 Sep 1;27(9):541–546. PMID: 33252364
- Rehman H, Bezerra CA, Bruschini H, et al. Traditional suburethral sling operations for urinary incontinence in women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7:CD001754. PMID: 28743177.
- 44. SL, Anderson ML, Dublin S. Cumulative use of strong anticholinergic and incident dementia. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175:401-7. PMID: 25621434.
- 45. American Urogynecologic Society. Clinical Consensus Statement: Association of anticholinergic medication use and cognition in women with overactive bladder. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2021;27:69-71. PMID: 33497068.

Section 2: Pelvic Organ Prolapse

Background

Pelvic organ prolapse (POP) is the descent of one or more of the anterior, posterior, or apical pelvic floor compartments.¹ POP is thought to occur secondary to failure of the pelvic support structures including the levator ani muscle complex, cardinal and uterosacral ligaments, and endopelvic fascial connections.² POP can be identified anatomically on physical exam and by patient-reported symptoms. Approximately 50% of women have evidence of POP on physical examination.³⁻ ⁸ Of these women, 3-6% will have descent of prolapse beyond the hymen, which is well-correlated with the onset of patient symptoms.9-11 POP increases in prevalence and severity with increasing age;^{4,12} it is projected that 9.2 million women will have POP by 2050.13 Risk factors for the development of symptomatic POP include age, vaginal parity, and possibly some connective tissue disorders.^{3,5-7} At the molecular level, cellular senescence, collagen loss/degradation, and connective tissue impairment have been associated with POP.14 Overall, the pathophysiologic mechanisms underlying the development, progression, and severity of POP are inadequately understood.

Treatment options for bothersome symptomatic POP include pelvic floor physical therapy/pelvic muscle strengthening, pessary fitting, and surgical intervention. No effective preventative strategies for POP have been identified. Data on the effectiveness of existing interventions to improve pelvic floor strength are lacking and the development of novel preventative strategies is needed. Pessaries are a nonsurgical approach for prolapse. for Although overall treatment safe. complications including discomfort, local tissue devascularization and erosion can limit use.15

Surgical approaches include both native tissue and meshbased reconstructive procedures and obliterative procedures. Optimal reconstructive surgical outcomes involve addressing all of the anterior, posterior, and apical compartments contributing to the pelvic organ prolapse.¹⁶ Pelvic anatomic studies floor functional have demonstrated a correlation between apical failure and paravaginal defects;17 this is corroborated by the finding of similar POP-Q point improvements and Patient Global Impression of Improvement (PGI-I) scores between cohorts undergoing robotic sacrocolpopexy with or without concurrent paravaginal defect repairs.¹⁸ Both native tissue site-specific rectocele repair and posterior colporrhaphy provide improvements in symptoms and

quality of life parameters.¹⁹ A recent systematic review of apical suspensions showed a higher risk of anatomic recurrence with native tissue based vaginal approach (sacrospinous and uterosacral ligament suspensions) compared with mesh sacrocolpopexy.²⁰ A meta-analysis comparing trans-vaginally placed anterior type I polypropylene mesh to native tissue demonstrated a lower subjective awareness of prolapse with mesh augmentation, but the composite risk of subsequent surgery for prolapse, incontinence, and mesh extrusion was significantly higher.²¹ After a series of safety communications, in 2019 the FDA halted the sale and distribution of mesh surgical products for the transvaginal repair of pelvic organ prolapse.^{22, 23} Postoperative prolapse recurrence ranges from 6-30%²⁴ highlighting the need to develop new strategies to the durability of surgical procedures by improvement of native tissue integrity or development of novel biomaterials.

Symptomatic POP is associated with urinarv incontinence, depression, anxiety, sleep disturbance, sexual dysfunction, deteriorating physical function and diminished socialization.²⁵⁻²⁸ It has a substantial negative impact on the physical function and quality of life of women.²⁹ Due to the severity of this condition, 1 in 7 women will undergo surgical correction of POP.^{30,31} The lifetime risk of surgical intervention increases by age and by age 80, 20% of women will have undergone surgical correction of POP.32 The number of women seeking treatment of POP is expected to increase as our population ages; by 2050, approximately 250,000 women are projected to undergo surgery for POP annually.¹³

The comprehensive economic burden of the condition is not well-defined³³ and extends far beyond the condition itself (e.g., caregiving needs, exacerbation of concomitant pelvic floor disorders, loss of work, and decreased societal productivity). Existing studies have focused either on direct surgical or ambulatory costs and are limited by inclusion of other pelvic floor disorders. The direct surgical cost of POP was estimated to be \$1 billion annually in studies from the 1990s.34 Contemporary studies, which evaluate the broader economic impact of changes in management of POP (including the introduction of robotic sacrocolpopexy, uterine-sparing approaches, and ambulatory care specific to POP), are lacking.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Normal and Abnormal Functional Anatomy/Biomechanics

Research Gap: The pelvic organ support system consists of multiple intact interconnected boney, muscular, and connective tissue structures whose complex 3D arrangement facilitates gastrointestinal and genitourinary function.35 Prior work has focused on the contribution of levator ani impairment (avulsion and/or denervation) to POP development, but its relationship to anatomic measurement surrogates remains uncharacterized.³⁶ Additionally, the vectors of external forces applied to the pelvic floor and their contribution to POP development is unclear. Further investigations are needed to understand the occurrence, combination, and interaction of failures of other aspects of the support system to develop evidencebased prevention and rationally directed therapy. Finally, there is a limited understanding of how specific anatomical findings produce specific symptoms.

Recommendations:

- Develop prospective observational studies to correlate measurements of genital hiatus size, perineal body length and mobility, and vaginal axis to the degree of POP and/or degree of POP symptoms.
- Establish physiologic studies to identify conditions of external force that increase pelvic floor pressure and their correlation to POP.
- Expand research that investigates the association between specific types of anatomical failures and the symptoms they produce, with the goal of creating prolapse phenotypes based on objective and subjective findings.

Molecular, Cellular, Genetic and Biomechanical Factors

Research Gap: The molecular, cellular, genetic and biomechanical factors that influence the development and/or progression of POP are poorly understood.^{37,38} These factors include but are not limited to hormones, predisposing genetic/epigenetic factors, aging, metabolic disturbances (including obesity), and vaginal delivery.³⁹⁻⁴¹ A fundamental molecular, cellular, and tissue level understanding of POP pathophysiology is critical to identification of populations at risk, appropriate counseling, and personalized treatment strategies directed at the etiologies of POP.

Recommendation:

 Create multi-disciplinary *in vitro*, *in vivo*, and translational studies of critical supportive tissues and their cell populations to identify cell signaling and metabolic pathways, extracellular matrix modifications, and biomechanical alterations that may potentiate POP.

Therapies for Prevention

Research Gap: To date, treatments have been focused on management of POP once symptomatic, and information is lacking concerning potential therapies to prevent pelvic floor and soft tissue injury and POP recurrence following surgical intervention. The current focus lies on vaginal birth parity as a risk factor for POP and cesarean delivery as a method of prevention, but additional data are required to elucidate alternate risk reduction modalities.⁴²

Recommendations:

- Develop prospective studies to assess peripartum, intrapartum, and postpartum preventative strategies to decrease pelvic floor trauma/denervation (e.g., peripartum weight control, maternal positioning, perineal support, sequential pushing maneuvers, postpartum physical therapy), thus reducing risk of subsequent POP.
- ✓ Identify intra-operative and post-operative approaches to reduce the risk of POP recurrence (surgical approach, role and timing of topical estrogen, supportive devices, activity mobilization, pelvic floor physiotherapy).

Treatment, Treatment Failure and Recurrence

Research Gap: Surgical treatment for POP has focused on the restoration of connective tissue support by compromised native tissue plication and the implantation of synthetic materials, most commonly polypropylene mesh. Native tissue plication appears to be associated with higher POP recurrence, but mesh has been associated with rare but serious complications including extrusion and chronic pain; complications have been particularly problematic when POP meshes are inserted via a transvaginal approach. Products designed to facilitate transvaginal insertion of mesh have therefore been reclassified and removed from market following a series of U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) warnings.⁴³ Thus, novel and safer treatment options are needed for POP. Early work supports the use of softer implants with stable geometries under the conditions in which the implants are loaded.

Recommendations:

- ✓ Evaluate surgical outcomes in animal models using mesh with softer properties, stable geometries, and biologically active components that improve interaction with grafted tissues with the goal of restoring injured structures to the non-injured state.
- Engineer more biocompatible grafts and synthetic or non-synthetic regenerative materials to be used in prolapse surgery.

 Establish surgical algorithms that optimize prolapse repair outcomes based on patient POP characteristics as well as best practices in surgical repairs.

Health Disparities

Research Gap: There is a relatively low representation of racial and ethnic minorities in POP research. Unknown factors in diverse populations may predispose or protect from the development of POP. Additionally, little is known regarding how POP symptoms are expressed across languages and cultures.

Recommendations:

- ✓ Develop epidemiologic studies to better understand disparities in care for diverse patients and identify risk factor clusters in geographic regions and within diverse populations, including studies with the framework that disparities in prolapse experience, treatment, and outcomes, such as those seen between different racial and ethnic groups, are not issues with a biological basis.
- Design population-based studies to assess the National Institutes of Health (NIH) initiative of health disparities in underserved groups seeking care for POP.

Societal Impact and Financial Burden of Treatment Modalities

Research Gap: The financial burden of treatment modalities affects our ability to provide care to patients with POP as the likelihood of governmental support and outside funding may be reduced.

Recommendation:

 Create and explore cost-analysis studies in surgical techniques and devices in outpatient-based care of pelvic floor physiotherapy to treat POP.

References

- Haylen BT, de Ridder D, Freeman RM, et al. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21:5-26; PMID: 19937315
- Barber MD, Maher C. Epidemiology and outcome assessment of pelvic organ prolapse. Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(11):1783-90. PMID: 24142054
- Samuelsson EC, Victor FT, Tibblin G, et al. Signs of genital prolapse in a Swedish population of women 20 to 59 years of age and possible related factors. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;180;299-305, PMID: 9988790
- 4. Jelovsek JE, Maher C, Barber MD. Pelvic organ prolapse. Lancet. 2007;369(9566):1027-38. PMID: 17382829.
- 5. Mant J, Painter R, Vessey M. Epidemiology of genital prolapse observations from the Oxford Family Planning

Association Study. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1997;104(5):579-85. PubMed PMID: 9166201.

- Nygaard I, Bradley C, Brandt D, Women's Health Initiative. Pelvic organ prolapse in older women: prevalence and risk factors. Obstet Gynecol. 2004;104(3):489-97. PMID:15339758.
- Swift SE, Pound T, Dias JK. Case-control study of etiologic factors in the development of severe pelvic organ prolapse. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2001;12(3):187-92. PMID: 11451007.
- Swift S, Woodman P, O'Boyle A, et al. Pelvic Organ Support Study (POSST): the distribution, clinical definition, and epidemiological condition of pelvic organ support defects. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;192;795-806. PMID:15746674.
- Swift SE, Tate SB, Nicholas J. Correlation of symptoms with degree of pelvic organ support in a general population of women: what is pelvic organ prolapse? Am J Obstet Gynecol 189; 372-7; discussion 377-9, doi:10.1067/s0002-9378(03)00698-7 (2003). PMID: 14520198.
- Bradley CS & Nygaard IE. Vaginal wall descensus and pelvic floor symptoms in older women. Obstet Gynecol. 2005;106;759-66. PMID: 16199633.
- Gutman RE, Ford De, Quiroz LH, et al. Is there a pelvic organ prolapse threshold that predicts pelvic floor symptoms? Am J Obstet Gynecol 199; 683, e681-7, doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2008.07.028 (2008). PMID: 18828990.
- Kinman CL, Lemieux CA, Agrawal A, et al. The relationship between age and pelvic organ prolapse bother. Int Urogynecol J. 2017 May;28(5):751-755. PMID: 27766345
- Wu JM, Kawasaki A, Hundley AF, et al. Predicting the number of women who will undergo incontinence and prolapse surgery, 2010 to 2050. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;205(3):230.e1-5. PMID: 21600549
- 14. Huang L, Zhao Z, Wen J, et al. Cellular senescence: A pathogenic mechanism of pelvic organ prolapse (Review). Mol Med Rep. 2020;22(3):2155-2162. PMID: 32705234.
- Anglim B, Zhao ZY, Lovatsis D, et al. The extended pessary interval for care (EPIC) study: a failed randomized clinical trial. Int Urogynecol J. 2021 Apr;32(4):937-944. PMID: 32785749
- Murphy AM, Clark CB, Denisenko AA, et al. Surgical Management of Vaginal Prolapse: Current Surgical Concepts. Can J Urol 2021;28(Suppl2):22-26. PMID: 34453425
- DeLancey JO. What's new in the functional anatomy of pelvic organ prolapse? Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2016;28(5):420–429. PMID: 27517338
- Hoke TP, Goldstein H, Saks EK, et al. Surgical Outcomes of Paravaginal Repair After Robotic Sacrocolpopexy J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2018;25(5):892-895. PMID: 29371174.
- Grimes CL, Schimpf MO, Wieslander CK, et al. Society of Gynecologic Surgeons (SGS) Systematic Review Group (SRG) Surgical interventions for posterior compartment prolapse and obstructed defecation symptoms: a systematic review with clinical practice recommendations. Int Urogynecol J. 2019;30(9):1433-1454. PMID: 31256222.
- Larouche M, Belzile E, Geoffrion R. Surgical management of symptomatic apical pelvic organ prolapse: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol. 2021;137(6):1061-1073. PMID: 33957652.

- Maher C, Feiner B, Baessler K, et al. Transvaginal mesh or grafts compared with native tissue repair for vaginal prolapse. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016. PMID: 26858090
- 22. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA takes action to protect women's health, orders manufacturers of surgical mesh intended for transvaginal repair of pelvic organ prolapse to stop selling all devices. News release. April 16, 2019. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/pressannouncements/fda-takes-action-protectwomens-health-ordersmanufacturers-surgical-meshintended-transvaginal
- US Food and Drug Administration. FDA's activities: urogynecologic surgical mesh. Updated September 2, 2021. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/urogynecologic-surgical-meshimplants/fdasactivities-urogynecologic-surgical-mesh
- Dallenbach P. To mesh or not to mesh: a review of pelvic organ constructive surgery. Int J Women's Health. 2015;7:331-343. PMID: 25848324
- Fitzgerald MP, Janz NK, Wren PA, et al; Pelvic Floor Disorders Network. Prolapse severity, symptoms and impact on quality of life among women planning sacrocolpopexy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;98(1):24-8. PMID: 17477927
- Wu JM, Vaughan CP, Goode PS, et al. Prevalence and trends of symptomatic pelvic floor disorders in U.S. women. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(1):141-8. PMID: 24463674
- 27. Rogers GR, Villarreal A, Kammerer-Doak D, et al. Sexual function in women with and without urinary incontinence and/or pelvic organ prolapse. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dystunct. 2001;12(6):361-5. PMID: 11795636
- 28. Bochenska K, Hall E, Griffith JW, et al. The Promise of PROMIS in Pelvic Organ Prolapse. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2019;25(6):426-429. PMID: 30570502
- 29. Fritel X, Varnoux N, Zins M, et al Symptomatic pelvic organ prolapse at midlife, quality of life, and risk factors. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113;609-16. PMID: 19300324.
- Barber MD, Maher C. Epidemiology and outcome assessment of pelvic organ prolapse. Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(11):1783-90. PMID: 24142054
- Wu JM, Hundley AF, Fulton RG, et al. Forecasting the prevalence of pelvic floor disorders in U.S. Women: 2010 to 2050. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;114(6):1278-1283. PMID: 19935030

- Wu JM, Matthews CA, Conover MM, et al. Lifetime risk of stress urinary incontinence or pelvic organ prolapse surgery. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;123(6):1201-6. PMID: 24807341
- Kim MM, Harvey J, Gusev A, et al. A scoping review of the economic burden of non-cancerous genitourinary conditions. Urology. 2021;166:29-38. PMID: 34688770
- Subak LL, Waite LE, van den Erden S, et al. Cost of pelvic organ prolapse surgery in the United States. Obstet Gynecol. 2001;98:646-51. PMID: 11576582.
- Easley DC, Abramowitch SD, Moalli PA. Female Pelvic Floor Biomechanics: Bridging the Gap. Curr Opin Urol. 2017;27(3):262-267. PMID: 28267057
- Handa VL, Blomquist JL, Roem J, et al. Levator morphology and strength after obstetric avulsion of the levator ani muscle. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2020;26(1):56-60. PMID: 30272594
- Guler Z, Roovers JP. Role of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts on the pathogenesis and treatment of pelvic organ prolapse. Biomolecules. 2022;12(1). PMID: 35053242
- Martins P, Lopes Silva-Filho A, Rodrigues Maciel da Fonseca AM, et al. Biomechanical properties of vaginal tissue in women with pelvic organ prolapse. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2013;75(2):85-92. PMID: 23295833
- Alperin M, Cook M, Tuttle LJ, et al. Impact of vaginal parity and aging on the architectural design of pelvic floor muscles. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016;215(3):312.e1-9. PMID: 26953079
- Chantereau P, Brief M, Kammal M, et al. Mechanical properties of pelvic soft tissue of young women and impact of aging. Int Urogynecol J. 2014;25(11):1547-1553. PMID: 25007897
- Mori da Cunha MG, Mackova K, Hajkova Hympanova L, et al Animal models for pelvic organ prolapse systematic review. Int Urogynecol J. 2021 Jun;32(6):1331-1344. PMID: 33484287
- Lowder JL, Debes KM, Moon DK, et al. The influence of the material properties on the biomechanical behavior of the pelvic floor muscles during vaginal delivery. J Biomech. 2009;42(9):1301-1306. PMID: 19375709
- 43. Larouche M, Geoffrion R, Walter JE. No. 351-Transvaginal Mesh Procedures for Pelvic Organ Prolapse. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2017;39(11):1085-97. PMID: 29080723

Section 3: Fecal Incontinence

Background

Accidental bowel leakage (ABL), or fecal incontinence (FI), is defined as unintentional leakage of mucous, liquid, or solid stool. This condition is further classified by either urge or passive incontinence. With urge FI there is awareness of the need to defecate but lack of ability to control the bowel contents. In contrast, passive FI is leakage without sensation that the bowel is full or ready to empty.

The prevalence of FI in women has been reported to be up to 24%.¹ There is increasing incidence of FI with age, as a longitudinal cohort study found adults older than 65 years had 2.79 higher odds of having weekly FI [95% CI 1.88, 4.14].² The true prevalence of FI is difficult to determine because the stigma associated with FI often prevents women from disclosing their symptoms to a medical provider, even when the symptoms have a negative impact on daily life.³ Further, primary care and women's health care providers do not routinely screen for FI symptoms.⁴

Predictors of FI are independent of sex and gender and reported rates of FI are similar in men and women.² Patients who identify as non-Hispanic White and/or Hispanic have a higher incidence of FI than patients who identify as non-Hispanic Black and Asian. However, non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic women have been found to have greater symptom severity.² Although education level and marital status have no impact on FI incidence, adults with annual income greater than \$200,000 do have higher odds of weekly FI symptoms (OR 2.28, 95% CI 1.04,4.99).² Clinical characteristics significantly associated with FI include diarrhea, fecal urgency, constipation, and presence of inflammatory bowel diseases.^{2, 5}

Current management options for FI include 1) conservative, non-surgical therapies such as supportive care (pads, diapers, barriers, diet modifications, behavioral), medical management (antidiarrheal agents, oral bulking agents), pelvic floor exercises ± biofeedback, devices (plugs, vaginal bowel control system), and injectable anal bulking agents; as well as 2) surgical management such as sacral nerve stimulation, anal sphincteroplasty, and fecal diversion requiring an ostomy in refractory cases.

Existing data, although limited, demonstrate a substantial economic burden associated with FI, both at the individual and health care system levels. Health care costs overall

are 55% greater for people with FI compared to those without.⁴ The estimated financial cost of FI has been reported to be \$4,110 (2010) per person annually. Further, given its psychosocial burden, FI also leads to loss of household and work productivity, at an estimated cost of \$1,549 (2010) per person annually.⁶ There is a significant association between FI symptom severity and economic burden.^{6, 7} The financial burden on society, assessed by the cost of inpatient procedures alone for women with FI, was \$24.5 million (2003), nearly 2 decades ago,⁸ and continues to rise. Globally, the value of the adult diaper market was estimated to be \$16.7 billion in 2021, which is projected to reach \$26.1 billion by 2027 https://www.researchandmarkets.com/).9 There are additional data elaborating on the significant financial burden of FI.^{7,10-12} As FI increases with age, paralleling the rapidly growing aging population, the economic impact on society will continue to expand.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Two broad themes to reduce the burden of FI were identified: 1) to optimize the effectiveness of existing treatments and to develop more effective treatments for FI through various research initiatives (basic science, translational, and clinical research), and 2) to better understand the psychosocial consequences of FI and provide support to alleviate the burden of living with FI.

Pathogenesis

Research Gap: Working knowledge pertaining to the pathogenesis of FI is limited. The current understanding of the mechanism of fecal continence heavily focuses on the integrity of the anal sphincter complex to contain stool, which incompletely explains the mechanism of FI. The mechanism of fecal continence is complex and necessitates intact neuromuscular coordination within and beyond the anorectum and pelvic structures.

Recommendations:

- Develop an understanding of the mechanisms of FI other than compromised anal sphincter complex trauma.
- Enhance understanding of indications for and utility of imaging and neuromuscular testing modalities and functional biomarkers.
- ✓ Investigate the role of the nervous system in the maintenance of continence.
- Delineate the roles of gut microbiota and metabolites on the pathophysiology of FI.

Classifications of FI Types

Research Gap: An incomplete understanding of FI pathogenesis leads to a lack of consensus on the classification of FI types. The majority of FI patients suffer from "idiopathic" FI, which hinders investigative efforts.

Recommendation:

 Improve the current FI classification system to address the spectrum of FI subtypes and standardize a pathogenesis-based disease classification system that corresponds to treatment algorithms.

Treatments and Prevention

Research Gap: Effective long-term treatment options are limited, and there is a lack of a treatment algorithm that is based on FI mechanism (pathophysiology) There is limited understanding of how disturbances in the continence mechanism(s) impact treatment modalities.

Recommendations:

- Identify optimal target populations and mechanismbased indications for various therapies, as well as develop mechanism-specific therapies that do not already exist.
- Develop therapies that either prevent fecal incontinence or directly target incontinence pathophysiology at the cellular and molecular levels.

Reporting/Validated Measures:

Research Gap: FI is a multifactorial disorder with significant symptomatic burden. While multiple instruments exist, there is a lack of consensus among experts on how to optimally capture the condition burden of FI. Correlations among existing measures on treatment effectiveness are moderate at best, thus leading to inconsistent reports regarding the efficacies of various interventions.

Recommendation:

Develop an FI measurement tool that effectively captures the condition burden, reflects clinically significant change in a way that enables measurement of treatment efficacy, and achieves consensus for use amongst stakeholders (including patients).

Psychosocial Consequences and Providing Support

Research Gap: Despite the tremendous burden of FI, there is little understanding of how to improve support for those living with FI.

Recommendations:

✓ Investigate differential burdens among people living with FI, family/caregivers, and society overall.

- Conduct a needs assessment to develop an effective support system to alleviate the psychosocial burden of FI.
- Identify ways to reduce stigma and improve access to care, with an emphasis on reducing disparities and enhancing equitable care delivery.

Research Inclusion/Diversity

Research Gap: Traditional research trials on FI have a narrow representation of people who suffer with FI.

Recommendations:

- Engage a broader research population with intentional inclusion of participants from various backgrounds, thus ensuring representation across various social determinants of health.
- Consider eligibility criteria to allow a broader spectrum of condition severity to assess the impact and effectiveness of FI interventions.

- 1. Varma MG, Brown JS, Creasman JM, et al. Fecal incontinence in females older than aged 40 years: who is at risk? Dis Colon Rectum. 2006;49(6):841-851. PMID: 16741640.
- Menees SB, Almario CV, Spiegel BMR, et al. Prevalence of and Factors Associated With Fecal Incontinence: Results From a Population-Based Survey. Gastroenterology. 2018;154(6):1672-1681 e1673. PMID: 29408460.
- Brown HW, Wexner SD, Lukacz ES. Factors associated with care seeking among women with accidental bowel leakage. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2013;19(2):66-71. PMID: 23442502.
- Dunivan GC, Heymen S, Palsson OS, et al. Fecal incontinence in primary care: prevalence, diagnosis, and health care utilization. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2010;202(5):493 e491-496. PMID: 20223447.
- Whitehead WE, Borrud L, Goode PS, et al; Pelvic Floor Disorders Network. Fecal incontinence in US adults: epidemiology and risk factors. Gastroenterology. 2009;137(2):512-7, 517.e1-2. PMID: 19410574.
- Xu X, Menees SB, Zochowski MK, et al. Economic cost of fecal incontinence. Dis. Colon Rectum. 2012;55(5):586– 98. PMID: 22513438.
- Patton B, Parkin K, Moore K. A prospective "bottom up" study of the costs of faecal incontinence in ambulatory patients. Neurourology and Urodynamics. 2018;37:1672-7.PMID: 29756684.
- Sung VW, Rogers ML, Myers DL, et al. National trends and costs of surgical treatment for female fecal incontinence. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007 Dec;197(6):652.e1-5. Doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.08.058. PMID: 18060967.
- Research and Markets. "Global Adult Diaper Market: Global Industry Trends, Share, Size, Growth, Opportunity and Forecast 2022-2027" <u>https://www.researchandmarkets.com/</u> Last accessed: 5 April, 2022.



National Urogynecology Research Agenda

- Hounsome N, Roukas C. Cost-effectiveness of sacral nerve stimulation and percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation for faecal incontinence. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 2018;11:1-22. PMID: 30305847.
- Raepsaet C, Fourie A, Hecke A, et al. Management of incontinence-associated dermatitis: A systematic review of monetary data. Int Wound J. 2021;18:79-94. PMID: 33236846
- 12. Pasricha T, Staller K. Fecal Incontinence in the Elderly. Clin Geriatr Med. 2021 Feb;37(1): 71-83. PMID: 33213775

Section 4: Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections

Background

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are some of the most common bacterial infections in the United States, and they disproportionately affect women.1 "UTI" is often colloquially used to describe bacterial cystitis, an infection limited to the bladder rather than the upper urinary tract and kidneys. More than one half of women have one UTI in their lifetime, and approximately one third of these women develop recurrent UTI within 6 months.¹⁻³ Up to 10% of women will seek treatment for recurrent UTIs in their lifetime, with recurrent UTI defined as two or more culture proven UTIs in 6 months or three or more in 12 months.² Escherichia coli (E. coli) is the most common urinary tract pathogen and is found in 70-95% of UTIs detected with standard urine cultures.⁴ However, E. coli is only seen in 66% of recurrent UTIs, with non-E. coli and resistant pathogens more commonly identified in women with recurrent (PMID: 29369839, UTIs PMID: 23055152).^{4, 5} Risk factors for recurrent UTIs include behavioral, anatomic, biologic, and genetic factors, suggesting a complex interaction exists between host and pathogen. In addition, the emerging field of the urobiome has enhanced our understanding of the bladder's non-sterile environment.

There is a vast body of evidence demonstrating the social and economic impact of recurrent UTIs. These infections negatively impact the quality of life of countless women, with studies of patients suffering from recurrent UTIs noting anxiety, depression, and significantly diminished quality of life.^{3,6,7} Women suffering from recurrent UTIs experience burdens related to symptoms and treatment, including exposure to repeated courses of antibiotics. Repeated antibiotic exposure comes with additional sideeffects and societal risks, including a predisposition to infections outside of the urinary tract and increased prevalence of multi-drug resistant bacteria. The rising prevalence of multi-drug resistant pathogens has paralleled increasing UTI rates and increased UTI-related hospital admissions over the last several decades.8-10 As UTI rates continue to climb, the societal burden of recurrent UTI is expected to increase over the coming vears.

Currently, the economic costs of UTIs, including health care costs and time missed from work, are approximately \$3.5 billion per year in the United States alone.^{11,12} European studies have similarly shown the high annual patient cost for women suffering from recurrent UTIs that is mostly related to pharmacological therapies and

physician visits.^{6,13} UTIs, specifically bacterial cystitis, account for nearly 1% of all outpatient clinic visits with approximately one fifth of these visits at the emergency department.^{11,14,15} UTIs have been linked to 6.2% of infectious disease-related deaths.¹⁶ and are responsible for 15.5% of hospital admissions amongst patients aged 65 years and older, second only to pneumonia.

Despite the profound social and economic impact of recurrent UTI, there is a paucity of information regarding pathophysiology, strategies to treat and prevent recurrent UTI, and non-antibiotic interventions to effectively prevent infection of the lower urinary tract. These persistent gaps in knowledge adversely impact the well-being of millions of women, who seek relief from emotional, physical, and economic burdens of their recurrent infections. In order to meet public health needs and progress towards a cure for recurrent UTI patients, the American Urogynecologic Society Scientific Committee recommends the following research priorities.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Three research areas are essential to the advancement of scientific knowledge related to UTI prevention and treatment: 1) characterization of healthy and disease states of the female bladder, 2) identification of biomarkers for rapid detection of UTI, and 3) investigation of patient-centered outcomes and disparities in UTI/recurrent UTI (rUTI) care.

Characterization of host-microbial interactions in the female bladder and with neighboring microbial niches

Research Gap: Throughout the body, health and function are dependent on a balance of the proper flora. It is believed that the genitourinary system is no exception. Currently, there is limited understanding of the microbial ecology of the lower urinary tract and neighboring microbial niches specifically the vagina. Pathogenic theories suggest that uropathogens invade the urothelium to cause UTIs, whereas other lower urinary tract symptoms are not associated with uropathogens. However, uropathogens are often present in the absence of UTI. To advance patient outcomes, we must understand the natural ecology of the genitourinary tract (bladder, vagina, and surrounding microbial niches) and its response to UTI-related treatments.

Recommendations:

✓ Conduct microbiome studies of the genitourinary tract to further the understanding UTI/rUTI and lay

the foundation for further investigation of ecological shifts associated with health and disease states.

- Aim to further elucidate the impact of aging and hormones on UTI susceptibility, pathogenesis, and response to treatment.
- Investigate novel non-antibiotic approaches for prophylaxis and treatment of UTI/rUTI.
- Investigate neuro-immune changes associated with infection response to understand the development of uncomplicated UTI versus complicated UTI/rUTI.
- ✓ Develop microbiome studies of large, diverse populations to ascertain the efficacy, safety, and durability of treatment modalities over both the short and long term (minimum 1 year).

Biomarker Rapid Detection

Research Gap: Women with rUTI can have episodes of bacteriuria that do not require antibiotics. Distinguishing disease states that would benefit from antibiotics from those that would not is especially important in patients with both bladder pain syndrome and rUTI. Accurate biomarkers will enhance diagnostic accuracy and improve clinical decision making. Some studies show that urinary markers (such as IL-6) can differentiate between asymptomatic bacteriuria (ASB) and UTI, but further investigation into biomarkers that can rapidly distinguish ASB from UTI are needed.

Recommendations:

- Design studies to identify specific biomarkers that characterize symptomatic UTI versus asymptomatic bacteriuria.
- Elucidate the role of the immune system with respect to UTIs and inflammation.
- Develop relevant animal models or ex-vivo human cell/tissue derived models (including bladder organoids or bladder on a chip) to facilitate development of rapid uropathogen or biomarker detection technologies.

Patient-Centered Outcomes & Care Equity

Research Gap: There is inadequate data related to patients' experiences with UTI/rUTI and patient-centered goals related to care. Furthermore, equity in rUTI care has not been examined, and there is a paucity of data related to treatment access, efficacy, and long-term outcomes amongst non-White and Hispanic patients.

Recommendations:

- ✓ Capture the psychosocial burden of UTI/rUTI.
- Investigate health literacy related to UTI/rUTI and establish treatment goals for rUTI via large, multi-center, socio-economically diverse studies.
- ✓ Emphasize patient education tools and care pathways for UTI/rUTIs, patient-centered outcome measures, and equity in UTI/rUTI care.

- 1. Foxman B. Epidemiology of urinary tract infections: incidence, morbidity, and economic costs. Am J Med. 2002 Jul 8;113 Suppl 1A:5S-13S. PMID: 12113866.
- Gupta K, Trautner BW. Diagnosis and management of recurrent urinary tract infections in non-pregnant women. BMJ. 2013 May 29;346:f3140. Doi: 10.1136/bmj.f3140. PMID: 23719637.
- Medina M, Castillo-Pino E. An introduction to the epidemiology and burden of urinary tract infections. Ther Adv Urol. 2019;11:1756287219832172. PMID: 31105774
- Brubaker L, Carberry C, Nardos R, et al. American Urogynecologic Society Best-Practice Statement: Recurrent Urinary Tract Infection in Adult Women. *Female pelvic med. Reconstr. Surg.*. 2018;24(5):321-335. PMID: 29369839
- Amna MA, Chazan B, Raz R, et al. Risk factors for non– Escherichia coli community-acquired bacteriuria. Infection 2013;41(2):473–477. PMID: 23055152
- Wagenlehner F, Wullt B, Ballarini S, et al. Social and economic burden of recurrent urinary tract infections and quality of life: a patient web-based study (GESPRIT). Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2018; 18: 107– 117. PMID: 28737469
- Renard J, Ballarini S, Mascarenhas T, et al. Recurrent Lower Urinary Tract Infections Have a Detrimental Effect on Patient Quality of Life: a Prospective, Observational Study [published online ahead of print, 2014 Dec 18]. Infect Dis Ther. 2014;4(1):125-135. PMID: 25519161
- Bruxvoort KJ, Bider-Canfield Z, Casey JA, et al. Outpatient Urinary Tract Infections in an Era of Virtual Healthcare: Trends From 2008 to 2017. Clin Infect Dis. 2020 Jun 24;71(1):100-108. PMID: 31437269.
- Johnson JR, Porter S, Thuras P, et al. Epidemic Emergence in the United States of Escherichia coli Sequence Type 131-H30 (ST131-H30), 2000 to 2009. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017;61(8):e00732-17. Published 2017 Jul 25. PMID: 28533233
- Simmering JE, Tang F, Cavanaugh JE, et al. The Increase in Hospitalizations for Urinary Tract Infections and the Associated Costs in the United States, 1998-2011. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017 Feb 24;4(1): 281. Doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofw281. PMID: 28480273; PMCID: PMC5414046
- Foxman B. Urinary tract infection syndromes: occurrence, recurrence, bacteriology, risk factors, and disease burden. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2014;28(1):1-13. PMID: 24484571
- Flores-Mireles AL, Walker JN, Caparon M, et al. Urinary tract infections: epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2015;13(5):269-284. PMID: 25853778

- Ciani O, Grassi D, Tarricone R. An economic perspective on urinary tract infection: The "costs of resignation." Clinical Drug Investigation. 2013;33(4):255-261. PMID: 23475540
- Schappert SM, Rechtsteiner EA. Ambulatory medical care utilization estimates for 2007. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital Health Stat 13(169). 2011. PMID: 21614897
- Niska R, Bhuiya F, Xu J. National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2007 emergency department summary. Natl Health Stat Report. 2010;26:1-31. PMID: 20726217
- Curns AT, Holman RC, Sejvar JJ, et al. Infectious disease hospitalizations among older adults in the United States from 1990 through 2002. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(21):2514-2520. PMID: 16314549

Section 5: Sexual Health in Women with Pelvic Floor Disorders

Background

Patients with pelvic floor disorders (PFD) consider sexual health important, feel that their sex lives are affected by their PFDs, and believe that PFD treatment improves their sex lives. Lack of improvement in sexual function after pelvic reconstructive surgery is viewed by patients as a serious complication.¹ Patients may be embarrassed by urine loss during sexual activity, how their genitalia look, and/or express concerns that their prolapse may prohibit sexual activity.² Patients with fecal incontinence are largely omitted from sexual function research, but limited evidence reveals accidental bowel leakage's profound impact on sexual function.³⁻⁶ In addition, patients who undergo reconstructive surgery are often hesitant to resume sexual activity because they think that intercourse will harm the repair or their partner.⁷ Despite its importance, data regarding sexual health in patients with PFDs are limited. Research has established sexual dysfunction prevalence among patients with PFDs, and there are questionnaires to assess these problems in research settings;^{8,9} however, little has been done to improve the sexual lives of patients with PFDs.¹⁰ In the clinical setting, health care providers do not feel prepared to discuss sexual concerns and, when they do, they have limited research to guide recommendations that are meaningful. Additionally, much of our research is limited to cisgender individuals and is not inclusive of women with different sexual orientations and those who do not have male partners. Although it is imperative that research in the context of sexual function and PFDs investigates treatments and solutions, the overall knowledge gaps first require better understanding and defining of these conditions. Finally, sexual function and dysfunction is multifactorial and requires expertise beyond just pelvic reconstructive surgeons.

Societal burden is high given that sexual dysfunction is common among women with pelvic floor symptoms. It is estimated that approximately 64% of women presenting to urogynecology practices suffer from some type of sexual dysfunction.¹¹ Women with PFDs are more likely to have decreased sexual arousal, decreased orgasm, and increased rates of dyspareunia compared to women without pelvic floor symptoms.¹² A more thorough understanding of the prevalence of sexual dysfunction among each of the individual pelvic floor disorders is essential.

The economic burden of male sexual dysfunction has been well described in the literature,¹³ whereas that of female sexual dysfunction has not yet been clearly defined. Preliminary work in cisgender women with sexual dysfunction presenting to a specialized sexual function clinic in the United Kingdom, found the average cost per patient in 2004 to be £472 (equivalent to £700 today or \$900 U.S. dollars).¹⁴ A study in the United States found that the medical expenses for women with hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD) were 27.9% higher than those without in the year before their diagnosis, and 19.5% higher in the year following diagnosis, with a difference of \$1,146 and \$897 per patient, respectively.¹⁵ These differences were primarily related to a higher number of outpatient services and prescriptions in women with hypoactive sexual desire disorder (HSDD). Investigation into the impact of female sexual dysfunction on quality-adjusted life years has been recommended as this would offer a more comprehensive perspective on the true economic burden of the condition; however, this has not vet been completed.¹³ The economic burden of sexual dysfunction related to pelvic floor disorders (PFDs) remains unknown. Given the strong association of sexual dysfunction with PFDs12 and the estimated \$412 million direct annual costs associated with ambulatory care for PFDs, which continues to increase,¹⁶ it can be safely concluded that the cost of sexual dysfunction due to PFDs is also unacceptably high.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Improve Overall Understanding of Basic Anatomy and Physiology and How They Relate to Sexual Function

Research Gap: Overall, there is lack of understanding of the female pelvic anatomy and physiology and how it contributes to the sexual response. This knowledge gap translates to complications decreasing sexual function following urogynecologic surgical procedures for incontinence and pelvic floor disorders.

Recommendations:

- Characterize the female pelvic anatomy and physiology to better understand the contribution and importance of all pelvic organs, glands, hormones, nerves, and vasculature to sexual function.
- Conduct descriptive and qualitative studies of pelvic anatomy in healthy, postpartum, and older (postmenopausal) individuals with and without pelvic floor disorders.

Standardization in Terminology, Screening and Reporting

Research Gap: There is a lack of consistent reporting and lack of consensus on specific female sexual health outcomes in research trials for pelvic floor disorders, including validated sexual function questionnaires, domains of sexual function, and definitions of sexual function outcomes (persistent dyspareunia, de novo dyspareunia, sexual activity).

Recommendations:

- Describe current validated questionnaires evaluating sexual function related to women with pelvic floor disorders and make recommendations on how they should be reported in research trials, including specific questions and domains.
- Determine the optimal screening questions for sexual health in the clinical setting and in research trials based on validation and qualitative research.
- Provide recommendations for sexual function outcome reporting for prospective trials in urogynecologic research (including baseline and postoperative data for sexual activity, dyspareunia, and de novo dyspareunia).
- Improve study robustness by recognizing that comparing a sexually active cohort at the beginning of a study to those active at the end of the study is not possible because of the fluidity of patients identifying as sexually active over time and develop methods to account for this fluidity.¹⁷

Patient Centered Counseling and Changes with PFDs Surgery on Sexual Function

Research Gap: There are a lack of data on the effect of pelvic floor disorders and their treatment on sexual function, including lack of standardization of definitions, such as dyspareunia, inconsistent outcome reporting and not accounting for fluctuations in sexual activity. Advancing knowledge in this area would allow for a better understanding of the risks and benefits of surgical interventions, and help our patients make well informed decisions.

Recommendations:

- Investigate sexual function and changes to sexual health as caused by pelvic floor disorders and its treatments.
- Improve patient understanding and counseling on sexual health and the anticipated impact of sexual health with PFD treatment.

Explore Sexual Health and Dysfunction in Understudied Populations with PFDs

Research Gap: There is an overall paucity of data and poor understanding related to sexual function and key understudied populations, including all women who have sex, women in the postpartum period, women who have sex with women, and transgendered individuals.

Recommendations:

- Describe and understand the impact of pelvic floor disorders on women who have sex, including women who have sex with women and transgendered individuals, as the impact of pelvic floor disorders on sexual function is not well studied.
- Develop rigorous prospective data regarding changes in sexual function before, during, and after pregnancy.

- Dunivan GC, Sussman AL, Jelovsek JE, et al. Gaining the patient perspective on pelvic floor disorders' surgical adverse events. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2019;220(2): e1-185. PMID: 30612960
- Antosh DD, Kim-Fine S, Meriwether KV, et al. Changes in sexual activity and function after pelvic organ prolapse surgery: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol. 2020;136(5):922-931. PMID: 33030874
- Cichowski SB, Komesu YM, Dunivan GC, et al. The association between fecal incontinence and sexual activity and function in women attending a tertiary referral center. Int Urogynecol J 2013; 24(9): 1489-94. PMID: 23389640
- Harvey MA, Chih HJ, Geoffrion R, et al. International Urogynecology Consultation Chapter 1 Committee 5: relationship of pelvic organ prolapse to associated pelvic floor dysfunction symptoms: lower urinary tract, bowel, sexual dysfunction and abdominopelvic pain. Int Urogynecol J. 2021 Oct;32(10):2575-2594. PMID: 34338825
- Imhoff LR, Brown JS, Creasman JM, et al. Fecal incontinence decreases sexual quality of life,but does not prevent sexual activity in women. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55(10):1059-65. PMID: 22965405
- Bezerra LRPS, Britto DF, Ribeiro FIP et al. The impact of urinary incontinence on sexual function: A systematic review. Sex Med Rev. 2020;8(3):393-401. PMID: 32409182
- Caldwell L, Halder GE, Dunivan G, et al. Women's experience of their first sexual encounter after pelvic reconstructive surgery. Obstet Gynecol. 2021;138(3): 353-360. PMID: 34352838
- Rogers RG, Rockwood TH, Constantine ML, et al. A new measure of sexual function in women with pelvic floor disorders (PFD): The Pelvic Organ Prolapse/Incontinence Sexual questionnaire, IUGA-Revised (PISQ-IR). Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24(7):1091-103. PMID: 23632798
- Rosen R, Brown C, Heiman J, et al. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): a multidimensional self-report instrument for the assessment of female sexual function. J Sex Marital Ther. 2000;26(2):191-208. PMID: 10782451

- Verbeek M, Hayward L. Pelvic floor dysfunction and Its effect on quality of sexual life. Sex Med Rev. 2019 Oct;7(4):559-564. PMID: 31351916
- Pauls RN, Segal JL, Silva WA, et al. Sexual function in patients presenting to a urogynecology practice. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2006;17(6):576-80. PMID: 16767528
- Handa VL, Cundiff G, Chang HH, et al. Female sexual function and pelvic floor disorders. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;111(5):1045-52. PMID: 18448734
- 13. Balon R. Burden of sexual dysfunction. J Sex Marital Ther. 2017;43(1):49-55. PMID: 26683616.
- Goldmeier D, Malik F, Phillips R, et al. Cost implications of sexual dysfunction: the female picture. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16(2):130-4. PMID: 14961049.

- Foley K, Foley D, Johnson BH. Healthcare resource utilization and expenditures of women diagnosed with hypoactive sexual desire disorder. J Med Econ. 2010;13(4):583-90. PMID: 20831458.
- Sung VW, Washington B, Raker CA. Costs of ambulatory care related to female pelvic floor disorders in the United States. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010 May;202(5):483.e1-4. PMID: 20227673.
- Antosh DD, Dieter A, Balk EM, et al. Sexual function after pelvic organ prolapse surgery: a systematic review comparing different approaches to pelvic floor repair. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2021;225(5): 475 e1-475. PMID: 34087227

Section 6: Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis and Myofascial Pelvic Pain

Background

Bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis (BPS/IC) and myofascial pelvic pain (MFPP) are two chronic pain conditions that are commonly assessed and treated within the specialty of urogynecology.

Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis

BPS/IC is characterized by pain perceived to emanate from the bladder with associated urinary urgency, frequency, and nocturia lasting more than 6 weeks in the absence of other identifiable causes.¹ BPS/IC symptoms are common, yet the condition is often underdiagnosed and undertreated, largely due to considerable phenotypic heterogeneity of the syndrome. Further complicating the diagnosis and treatment of BPS/IC, is a lack of understanding of disease pathogenesis. The etiology of BPS/IC is thought to be multifactorial with interactions between autoimmune. neuroendocrine. allergic. and pathways.^{2,3} infectious Despite this complex pathogenesis, the current dominant clinical paradigm is entrenched in the concept that the urothelial glycosaminoglycan layer, composed of hyaluronic acid, a non-sulfated glycosaminoglycan, and three sulfatedglycosaminoglycans (chondroitin sulfate, heparan sulfate, and dermatan sulfate), serves as a permeability barrier to prevent penetration of urinary toxins and pathogens into bladder tissues.⁴ Many experts believe that the root cause of BPS/IC is disruption of the permeability barrier integrity due to deficiency of the glycosaminoglycan layer. Although several treatments focus on glycosaminoglycan replenishment, these therapies are not universally effective, thereby reinforcing the need for a better understanding of the BPS/IC pathophysiology to enable identification of novel therapeutic targets.

The health burden of BPS/IC is immense and disproportionately affects women at a 5:1 female to male ratio.⁵ Per the Research and Development (RAND) Interstitial Cystitis Epidemiology (RICE) study, 6.5% of U.S. cisgender women 18 years or older meet BPS/IC criteria, translating to approximately 8 million women.⁶ Although 87% of study participants meeting diagnostic criteria consulted a physician about their symptoms, only 40% had seen a lower urinary tract specialist and fewer than 10% reported a diagnosis of BPS/IC.⁶ Disability from BPS/IC has been compared to other chronic illnesses, and quality of life for patients with BPS/IC is rated subjectively worse than that of patients with end-stage renal disease on dialysis.7 These patients have increased rates of concurrent chronic pain disorders (e.g., irritable bowel syndrome, vulvodynia, fibromyalgia), sleep and

sexual dysfunction, and psychosocial difficulties, including higher acute and chronic stress levels, more anxiety and depression, worse coping skills, and more self-reported cognitive deficits.⁸⁻¹⁰ Furthermore, in comparison to men, women with BPS/IC report higher levels of early life trauma, greater symptoms of pain, and poorer quality of life with regard to physical activity.¹⁰

A recent systematic review, evaluating the cost of chronic pelvic pain management, estimated an annual expense of \$2.8 billion in the United States, with highly varied results from across the world including Japan at ¥191,680 to ¥246,488 (\$1,514 to \$1,947 U.S. dollars) and Australia at \$16,970 to \$20,898 (\$12,488 to \$15,379 U.S. dollars) per woman per year.11 The diagnosis and prevalence of BPS/IC is likely underestimated; thus, it is difficult to gauge this condition's true economic impact.¹² The annual cost of BPS/IC in the United States was estimated at \$750 million in 2000.12 Two claims-based studies evaluating data from 1998 to 2003 involving insurance plan-specific and managed care populations demonstrated between \$3,000 and \$4,000 additional annual costs for patients with BPS/IC compared to those without the diagnosis.^{13,14} A study spanning 2009-2014 that included both payer and patient costs, revealed an estimated expense of \$7,223 annually for patients with BPS/IC, with approximately 71% being spent on outpatient visits and medication costs.^{15,16} This economic burden is comparable to other gynecologic conditions, such as leiomyomas and gynecologic malignancy (estimated annual expenses in the United States of \$2 billion and \$3.8 billion, respectively),¹¹ without accounting for additional costs such as absenteeism and missed days of work, reduced productivity, long-term unemployment, and societal issues such as opioid use/dependence associated with BPS/IC.17

Myofascial Pelvic Pain

Myofascial pelvic pain (MFPP) is a pelvic floor disorder (PFD) characterized by pain originating from the pelvic floor muscles[†] and can involve increased muscle tone^{‡,18} Chronic MFPP syndrome is persistent or episodic pain (in the absence of a local pathological condition with symptoms suggestive of lower urinary tract, sexual, bowel or gynecological dysfunction), and often is associated with negative cognitive, behavioral, sexual or emotional consequences.¹⁹⁻²³ The etiology of MFPP is not well understood and is likely multifactorial in many patients. MFPP can be present without concomitant medical pathology or as a precursor or sequela to urologic, gynecologic, or musculoskeletal conditions.²⁴ Several theories have been proposed and include metabolic imbalance at the motor end plate in peripheral tissue, central sensitization of pain, and neuromuscular

microtrauma related to the specific muscular demands of these muscles.²⁵⁻²⁸ MFPP is an underrecognized and notable source of pelvic pain and other PFD symptoms that merits substantial research attention.

The prevalence of MFPP varies widely from 18% to 78%.²⁹⁻³¹ MFPP may be involved in an estimated 22% to 94% of cases of chronic pelvic pain (CPP) and found in 87% in patients with BPS/IC.^{29, 32-36} A recent retrospective cohort study from patients that underwent uncomplicated minimally invasive hysterectomy demonstrated that the prevalence of MFPP was 42.7%.37 More recently, MFPP has been recognized in patients with non-pain PFDs with prevalence estimates ranging from 24% to 85%.²⁰⁻²³ Severity of MFPP has been independently correlated with worsening PFDs, including pain in the lower abdomen and difficulty emptying the bladder, as well as with defecatory dysfunction.²³ In patients with urinary incontinence, the prevalence of MFPP may be as high as 51.7% and within those, an inverse relationship between pain and muscle strength has been demonstrated.³⁸ It has also been shown that in cisgender women with both urinary incontinence and MFPP there is a significantly greater anterior pelvic tilt and posterior displacement of the body than in those with urinary incontinence but without MFPP.³⁹ In patients with a diagnosis of constipation, MFPP has been shown to be highly associated with a diagnosis of rectal evacuation disorder.⁴⁰ Severity of MFPP has also been correlated with subjective symptoms of prolapse, such as pelvic pressure and heaviness, but not with objective findings of prolapse.²³ Women with MFPP are also at high risk of sexual dysfunction (91.5%) and painful intercourse (88.4%),⁴¹ and have a higher prevalence of anxiety.⁴²

MFPP represents a significant economic burden on society, but data on the economic burden of MFPP are limited.43 Worldwide, the economic burden of chronic pelvic pain conditions, including BPS/IC, is substantial with overall cost estimates exceeding \$6 billion per year.¹¹ Health care costs, including outpatient and inpatient care, laboratory tests and procedures, complementary therapies, and pharmacy costs range from \$1,367 to \$7,043 per woman per year, and prescription costs alone are estimated between \$193 and \$2,457 per woman per year.¹¹ Considering MFPP is estimated to be present in up to 94% of cisgender women with CPP^{29,34,36} and up to 87% of cisgender women with BPS/IC,^{33,35} MFPP likely represents a substantial economic burden on women and health care systems worldwide, although further work is needed to understand the attributable costs.

[†pelvic floor myalgia, MFPP syndrome, ‡pelvic floor tension myalgia].

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Bladder Pain Syndrome/Interstitial Cystitis

Diagnosis

Research Gap: BPS/IC is a clinical diagnosis of exclusion and is primarily based on subjective findings.¹ There is a poor understanding of the disease etiology, a variety of condition phenotypes, and an absence of non-invasive diagnostic tests or established biomarkers.

Recommendation:

✓ Develop and validate molecular⁴⁴ and imaging^{45, 46} biomarkers to facilitate accurate diagnosis and help to discriminate between the BPS/IC phenotypes.

Disease Phenotypes

Research Gap: BPS/IC has phenotypic distinctions, most notably those with "classic" Hunner lesions (HL) and those without. Until the most recent 2022 AUA guideline amendment, all patients with BPS/IC were generally evaluated and treated in a similar tiered and sequential fashion.^{47,48} Patients with HL benefit from bladdertargeted therapies, whereas patients without HL represent a more heterogenous cohort, overlapping significantly with other somatoform disorders.

Recommendation:

✓ Develop additional prospective studies to evaluate differential management of these clinical BPS/IC phenotypes with application to current treatment guidelines in attempt to enable more personalized and effective treatments.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰

Current Treatments

Research Gaps:

- There are numerous strategies for the treatment of BPS/IC, yet rigorous clinical trials that directly compare different therapeutic modalities are limited.⁵¹
- ✓ Many experts attribute BPS/IC symptoms to a deficiency of the urothelial glycosaminoglycan (GAG) permeability barrier, and various therapies (i.e., intravesical heparin, dimethyl sulfoxide; oral pentosan polysulfate) are believed to yield therapeutic benefit by restoring the GAG layer;^{4,52} however, the precise role of the urothelial GAG layer in BPS/IC etiology has never been established. Further complicating this, the literature on bladder instillations aimed at GAG repletion is limited and demonstrates considerable variability in instillation ingredients, tools used to assess clinical

improvement after treatment, and methods to monitor long-term efficacy.^{30, 53, 54}

- Despite high rates of co-morbidity between mental health disturbances and BPS/IC, as well as the inclusion of amitriptyline as a common oral therapy, there is a gross deficiency in prospective data on bladder pain symptoms reported by patients with anxiety and depression. Additionally, most studies looking at these associations have failed to adjust for antidepressant use (i.e., selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors), which can inherently impact bladder symptoms.
- Most studies have used doses of intradetrusor botulinum toxin established for overactive bladder rather than assessing alternative doses and administration frequencies specific to BPS/IC.

Recommendations:

- Create and carry out, large, high-quality randomized clinical trials that directly compare therapeutic effectiveness of different BPS/IC treatments using standardized outcome measures, while also considering pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic drug parameters that impact treatment success.
- ✓ Generate quality data to inform standardization of bladder instillation formulations. Furthermore, given evidence of a vision-threatening maculopathy as a potential long-term side effect of oral pentosan polysulfate therapy,^{55,56} a better mechanistic understanding of the role, if any, of urothelial GAGs in BPS/IC pathogenesis and the suitability of GAG replenishment in BPS/IC treatment is necessary.
- Improve the understanding of the relationship between BPS/IC and mental health disturbances.⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹ Develop a national registry or other large and representative cohort study that collect mental health information, including antidepressant medication use, across a range of health care visits.
- ✓ To determine if botulinum toxin is truly beneficial in this condition, large multicenter randomized trials with standardized patient phenotyping, botulinum toxin dosage, treatment frequency, and outcome reporting are warranted.⁶⁰

Treatments on the Horizon

Research Gaps:

- Emerging evidence suggests that an altered microbiome and the use of a vaccine that targets uropathogenic microbes could play a role in diagnosing and treating BPS/IC, respectively.⁶¹
- There has been an increasing body of literature investigating the use of cannabis for various chronic

pelvic pain conditions, including BPS/IC, with disparate results.^{62, 63}

✓ There is mounting evidence that hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT) may be beneficial in the treatment of BPS/IC; however, the effect of HBOT according to patient phenotype and in conjunction with other BPS/IC treatments has not been evaluated.^{2,3,64,65}

Recommendations:

- ✓ Examine the impact of the host microbiome on BPS/IC pathogenesis.
- Investigate the use of cannabinoids and compounds that affect the endocannabinoid system compared to both placebo and current BPS/IC treatments to help determine whether cannabinoids are a safe and viable treatment option in this patient population.^{62, 63}
- Evaluate the potential role of HBOT in BPS/IC treatment, particularly as an adjuvant to conventional therapy, via large multicenter randomized trials with standardized outcome measures.

Myofascial Pelvic Pain Research

Prevalence

Research Gap: Current prevalence studies for MFPP are wide ranging, have small sample sizes, vary by associated condition, and have not been quantified using standardized instruments.^{24,66}

Recommendations:

- ✓ Determine prevalence estimates of MFPP in females across their lifespan.
- ✓ Develop studies where different groups of patients are screened for MFPP using a standardized pelvic examination tool.⁶⁶ These groups should include asymptomatic participants, those with chronic pelvic pain syndromes, and those with symptoms of pelvic floor disorders without pain.

Etiology

Research Gaps:

- MFPP is commonly identified in women with chronic pelvic pain^{30,67,68} who present for evaluation of pelvic floor disorders,^{22,23,69} yet our understanding of the risk and protective factors for development of MFPP is limited.
- ✓ Existing studies are either conducted in populations already diagnosed with chronic pelvic pain related to a specific disease entity (i.e., bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis, endometriosis) or are retrospective or case-control studies designed to explore potential associations in women found to

have pelvic floor disorder symptoms and/or MFPP on examination. $^{\rm 23,32}$

Recommendations:

- Develop longitudinal, population-based studies designed to identify and define the risk and protective factors for developing MFPP.
- Evaluate the effects of lifestyle (i.e., physical activity, sedentarism, chronic stress), general activity levels (i.e., frequency, intensity, timing of onset), and medical disorders (i.e., constipation, obesity, airway disease) in people with and without chronic pain or pelvic floor disorders are warranted.

Diagnosis

Research Gaps:

- ✓ There are no patient-reported outcome surveys, imaging studies, or laboratory tests to assist with the diagnosis of MFPP.
- A simple and standardized pelvic examination that screens for MFPP has been developed but has not been used in broader studies.⁶⁶
- ✓ Imaging of skeletal muscle in other parts of the body (i.e., neck muscles) has identified changes termed "trigger points" in patients with myofascial pain, and while "trigger points" in the pelvic floor muscles have been identified primarily by digital palpation, these areas have not been confirmed via imaging.⁷⁰

Recommendations:

- Develop validated, patient-reported outcomes surveys specific for MFPP to determine population prevalence rates, identify patients at risk prior to an initial internal examination, and give an objective measure of response to treatment.
- Research the reproducibility of the validated screening pelvic examination tools in different patient populations to improve reportable research outcomes in this condition.
- Advances in imaging modalities, such as magnetic resonance elastography and optical spectroscopy, to characterize skeletal muscle changes in MFPP and determine if these are consistent with trigger points identified on physical examination may help determine underlying pathophysiology and direct targeted treatment to these areas.⁷¹

Treatments

Research Gaps:

✓ The evidence supporting adjunctive therapies for MFPP is limited and greatly impacted by variation in dose, route, timing, and duration. There is some evidence, however, to suggest that oral and intravaginal muscle relaxants, anticonvulsants, and neuropathic pain medications may provide benefit in women with MFPP symptoms based on small studies and clinical experience with data extrapolated from chronic pain conditions.⁷²⁻⁷⁴

The current literature around pelvic physical therapy with and without biofeedback, electrical stimulation, and relaxation training is limited by significant methodological flaws, including small sample size, short follow-up, poor statistical analyses, and lack of standardization of protocols and outcome reporting.75-79 In addition, trials assessing other types of physiotherapy that include education, exercise, and group programming are lacking. There is some evidence to support the use of pelvic floor botulinum toxin injections for the treatment of MFPP and levator hypertonicity, but high-quality studies are lacking. Current studies are limited by small sample sizes, non-standardization in dosage and number of sites injected, route of injection (transvaginal, transperineal), and needle guidance methods (by electromyography, ultrasonography, or by palpation).80-85

Recommendations:

- Develop well-designed mechanistic, dose/route finding, and efficacy studies for oral and vaginal medications used as adjunctive therapies in MFPP patients.
- Utilize randomized trials involving pelvic physical therapy in MFPP patients that are phenotype-based, with longer periods of follow-up and detailed intervention parameters.
- Prioritize well-designed studies to determine the optimal dosage, route of injection, and needle guidance techniques for pelvic floor botulinum toxin.

- Hanno P, Dmochowski, R. Status of international consensus on interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome/painful bladder syndrome: 2008 snapshot. Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28:274–286. PMID: 19260081.
- Tanaka T, Nitta Y, Morimoto K, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for painful bladder syndrome/interstitial cystitis resistant to conventional treatments: long-term results of a case series in Japan. BMC Urol. 2011 May 24;11:11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2490-11-11. PMID: 21609485.
- van Ophoven A, Rossbach G, Oberpenning F, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen for the treatment of interstitial cystitis: long-term results of a prospective pilot study. Eur Urol. 2004 Jul;46(1):108-13. PMID: 15183555.
- 4. Wyndaele JJ, Riedl C, Taneja R, et al. GAG replenishment therapy for bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis. Neurourol Urodyn. 2019:38:535-44. PMID: 30592544
- Clemens JQ, Meenan RT, Rosetti MC, et al. Prevalence and incidence of interstitial cystitis in a managed care population. J Urol. 2005 Jan;173(1):98-102; discussion 102. PMID: 15592041.
- 6. Berry SH, Elliott MN, Suttorp M, et al. Prevalence of symptoms of bladder pain syndrome/interstitial cystitis

among adult females in the United States. J Urol. 2011;186(2):540-4. PMID: 21683389.

- Clemens JQ, Mullins C, Ackerman AL, et al; MAPP Research Network Study Group. Urologic chronic pelvic pain syndrome: insights from the MAPP Research Network. Nat Rev Urol. 2019 Mar;16(3):187-200. PMID: 30560936.
- Nickel JC, Payne CK, Forrest J, et al. The relationship among symptoms, sleep disturbances and quality of life in patients with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2009 Jun;181(6):2555-61. PMID: 19375108.
- Nickel JC, Tripp DA, Pontari M, et al. Psychosocial phenotyping in women with interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome: a case control study. J Urol. 2010 Jan;183(1):167-72. PMID: 19913812.
- Naliboff BD, Stephens AJ, Afari N, et al; MAPP Research Network. Widespread Psychosocial Difficulties in Men and Women With Urologic Chronic Pelvic Pain Syndromes: Case-control Findings From the Multidisciplinary Approach to the Study of Chronic Pelvic Pain Research Network. Urology. 2015;85(6):1319-27. PMID: 26099876.
- Huang G, Le AL, Goddard Y, et al. A Systematic Review of the Cost of Chronic Pelvic Pain in Women. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2022 Mar;44(3):286-293.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jogc.2021.08.011. Epub 2021 Sep 26. PMID: 34587539.
- Payne CK, Joyce GF, Wise M, et al. Interstitial cystitis and painful bladder syndrome. J Urol, 2007;177(6);2042-9, PMID: 17509284.
- Wu EQ, Birnbaum H, Mareva M, et al. Interstitial Cystitis: Cost, treatment and co-morbidities in an employed population. Pharmacoeconomics. 2006;24(1):55-65. PMID: 16445303.
- 14. Clemens JQ, Meenan RT, Rosetti MC, et al. Costs of interstitial cystitis in a managed care population. Urology. 2008;71(5):776-80; discussion 780-1. PMID: 18329077.
- Tung A, Hepp Z, Bansal A, et al. Characterizing Health Care Utilization, Direct Costs, and Comorbidities Associated with Interstitial Cystitis: A Retrospective Claims Analysis. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. 2017 Apr;23(4):474-482. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2017.23.4.474. PMID: 28345436.
- Anger JT, Zabihi N, Clemens JQ, et al. Treatment choice, duration, and cost in patients with interstitial cystitis and painful bladder syndrome. Int Urogynecol J. 2011 Apr;22(4):395-400. PMID: 20811877.
- Beckett MK, Elliott MN, Clemens JQ, et al. Consequences of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain symptoms on women's work participation and income: results from a national household sample. J Urol. 2014 Jan;191(1):83-8. PMID: 23872030.
- Frawley H, Shelly B, Morin M, et al. An International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for pelvic floor muscle assessment. Neurourol Urodyn. 2021;40(5):1217-1260. PMID: 33844342.
- Bo K, Frawley HC, Haylen BT, et al. An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) joint report on the terminology for the conservative and nonpharmacological management of female pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J. 2017 Feb;28(2):191-213. PMID: 27921161.
- 20. Adams S, Dessie S, Dodge LE, et al. Pelvic floor physical therapy as primary treatment for pelvic floor disorders with urinary urgency and frequency-predominant symptoms.

Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015;21:252. PMID: 26313494.

- 21. Dixon AM, Fitzgerald CM, Brincat C. Severity and bother of prolapse symptoms in women with pelvic floor myofascial pain. Int Urogynecol J. 2019, PMID 30874833.
- Wolff BJ, Joyce CJ, Brincat CA, et al. Pelvic floor myofascial pain in patients with symptoms of urinary tract infection. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2019;145(2):205-211. PMID: 30758844.
- Meister MR, Sutcliffe S, Badu A, et al. Pelvic floor myofascial pain severity and pelvic floor disorder symptom bother: is there a correlation? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019 Sep;221(3):235.e1-235.e15. PMID: 31319079.
- Pastore EA, Katzman WB. Recognizing myofascial pelvic pain in the female patient with chronic pelvic pain. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2012 Sep-Oct;41(5):680-91. doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01404.x. Epub 2012 Aug 3. PMID: 22862153.
- Spitznagle TM, Robinson CM. Myofascial pelvic pain. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2014 Sep;41(3):409-32. PMID: 25155122.
- Gerwin RD, Dommerholt J, Shah JP. An expansion of Simons' integrated hypothesis of trigger point formation. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2004 Dec;8(6):468-75. PMID: 15509461.
- 27. Kuner R. Central mechanisms of pathological pain. Nat Med. 2010 Nov;16(11):1258-66. doi: 10.1038/nm.2231. Epub 2010 Oct 14. PMID: 20948531.
- 28. Bron C, Dommerholt JD. Etiology of myofascial trigger points. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2012 Oct;16(5):439-44. doi: 10.1007/s11916-012-0289-4. PMID: 22836591.
- Tu FF, As-Sanie S, Steege JF. Prevalence of pelvic musculoskeletal disorders in a female chronic pelvic pain clinic. J Reprod Med. 2006 Mar;51(3):185-9. PMID: 16674013.
- Bedaiwy MA, Patterson B, Mahajan S. Prevalence of myofascial chronic pelvic pain and the effectiveness of pelvic floor physical therapy. J Reprod Med. 2013;58:504-510. PMID: 24568045.
- Reiter RC. Evidence-based management of chronic pelvic pain. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1998;41:422-35. PMID: 9646974.
- Cameron B, Sabourin J, Sanaee MS, et al. Pelvic floor hypertonicity in women with pelvic floor disorders: a case control and risk prediction study. Neurourol Urodyn. 2019;38(2):696-702. PMID: 30576003.
- Peters KM, Carrico DJ, Kalinowski SE, et al. Prevalence of pelvic floor dysfunction in patients with interstitial cystitis. Urology. 2007; 70(1):16-18. PMID: 17656199.
- Fitzgerald CM, Neville CE, Mallinson T, et al. Pelvic floor muscle examination in female chronic pelvic pain. J Reprod Med. 2011;56:117. PMID: 21542528.
- Bassaly R, Tidwell N, Bertolino S, Hoyte L, Downes K, Hart S. Myofascial pain and pelvic floor dysfunction in patients with interstitial cystitis. Int Urogynecol J. 2011;22:413-418. PMID: 20976441.
- Lillemon JN, Nardos R, Kaul MP, et al. Complex Female Pelvic Pain: A Case Series From a Multidisciplinary Clinic in Urogynecology and Physiatry. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2019;25(2):e34-e39. PMID: 30807433.
- Abu-Alnadi N, Frame B, Moore KJ, et al. Myofascial pain in hysterectomy patients. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2021;28(12):2067-2072. PMID: 34147694.

- Reis AM, Brito LGO, Lunardi ALB, et al. Factors associated with myofascial dysfunction of the pelvic floor muscles in women with urinary incontinence: a crosssectional study. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg 2021;27(11):691-6. PMID: 33787564.
- 39. Reis AM, Brito LGO, Teixeira CPF, et al. Is there a difference in whole body standing posture in women with urinary incontinence based on the presence of myofascial dysfunction in the pelvic floor muscles? Phys Ther 2021;101(10):pzab171. PMID: 34228785.
- Liu A, Chedid V, Wang XJ, et al. Clinical presentation and characteristics of pelvic floor myofascial pain in patients presenting with constipation. Neurogastroenterol Moti. 2020;32(7):e13845. PMID: 32281205.
- Frederice CP, Mira TA, Machado HC, et al. Effect of vaginal stretching and photobiomodulation therapy on sexual function in women with pelvic floor myofascial pain - a randomized clinical trial. J Sex Med. 2022;19:98-105. PMID:34955173.
- 42. Reis AM, Brito LGO, Lunardi ALB, et al. Depression, anxiety, and stress in women with urinary incontinence with or without myofascial dysfunction in the pelvic floor muscles: a cross-sectional study. Neurourol Urodyn 2021;40(1):334-39. PMID: 33150603.
- 43. Srbely, JZ. New trends in the treatment and management of myofascial pain syndrome. Current pain and headache reports. 2010. 14(5): 346-352. PMID 20607458.
- 44. Schrepf A, O'Donnell M, Luo Y, et al. Inflammation and inflammatory control in interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: Associations with painful symptoms. Pain. 2014; 155:1755-1761. PMID: 24907404.
- Towner RA, Smith N, Saunders D, et al. MRI as a tool to assess interstitial cystitis associated bladder and brain pathologies. Diagnostics (Basel). 2021;11:2298. PMID 34943535.
- Tyagi P, Moon CH, Janicki J, et al. Recent advances in imaging and understanding interstitial cystitis. F1000Res. 2018;7:1000. PMID: 30473772.
- 47. Hanno PM, Erickson D, Moldwin R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: AUA guideline amendment. J Urol. 2015;193:1545-53. PMID: 25623737.
- Clemens JQ, Erickson D, Varela NP, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome. J Urol. 2022;208:34-42. PMID: 35536143
- Crane A, Lloyd J, Shoskes DA. Improving the utility of clinical phenotyping in interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome: from UPOINT to INPUT. Can J Urol. 2018;25:9250-9254. PMID: 29680002
- Akiyama Y, Luo Y, Hanno PM, et al. Interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: The evolving landscape, animal models and future perspectives. Int J Urol. 2020;27:491-503. PMID: 32246572
- Xing-Peng D, De-Yi L, Xi J, et al. Efficacy and safety comparison of pharmacotherapies for interstitial cystitis and bladder pain syndrome. Int Urogynecol J. 2021;32:1129-1141. PMID: 33638677
- Hanno PM, Burks DA, Clemens JQ, et al. AUA guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome. J Urol. 2011;185:2162-70. PMID: 21497847
- 53. Weiss JM. Pelvic floor myofascial trigger points: manual therapy for interstitial cystitis and the urgency-frequency syndrome. J Urol. 2001;166:2226-31. PMID: 11696740

- Sant GR, Propert KJ, Hanno PM, et al. A pilot clinical trial of oral pentosan polysulfate and oral hydroxyzine in patients with interstitial cystitis. J Urol. 2003;170:810-5. PMID: 12913705
- 55. American Urogynecologic Society. Possible drug induced retinal maculopathy secondary to long-term use of pentosan polysulfate sodium (Elmiron). Copyright 2020. Available at: https://www.augs.org/publications/practice-advisories/
- Lindeke-Myers A, Hanif AM, Jain N. Pentosan polysulfate maculopathy. Surv Ophthalmol. 2022;67:83-96. PMID: 34000253
- 57. Mahjani B, Kokela LR, Batuure A, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis identify significant relationships between clinical anxiety and lower urinary tracty symptoms. Brain Behav. 2021;11:e2268. PMID: 34402598
- Fischer-Grote L, Fossing V, Aigner M, et al. Comorbidities of bladder pain syndrome in the contect of HITOP distress category: A systemtic review and meta-analysis. Int Urogynecol J. 2022;33:2335-2356. PMID: 35262767
- Brunahl CA, Klotz SGR, Dybowski C, et al. Physiotherapy and combined cognitive-behavioural therapy for patients with chronic pelvic pain syndrome: results of a nonrandomised controlled feasibility trial. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e053421. PMID: 34907064
- 60. Parsons BA, Goonewardene S, Dabestani S, et al. The benefits and harms of botulinum toxin-A in the treatment of chronic pelvic pain syndromes: Systematic review by the European Association of Urology Chronic Pelvic Pain Panel. Eur Urol Focus. 2022;8:320-338. PMID: 33526405
- Bhide A, Tailor V, Khullar V. Interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome and recurrent urinary tract infection and the potential role of the urinary microbiome. Post Reprod Health. 2020;26:87-90. PMID: 32627695
- Cervigni M, Nasta L, Schievano C. Micronized palmitoylethanolamide-polydatin reduces the painful symptomatology in patients with interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome. Biomed Res Int. 2019. Nov 11:9828397. PMID: 31828153
- 63. Houbiers JGA, Olivier van Till JW, Kaper M, et al. An adaptive randomized clinical trial in interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome evaluating efficacy of ASP3652 and the relationship between disease characteristics and Hunner's lesions. Wold J Urol. 2021;39:2065-2071. PMID: 32734461
- Bosco G, Ostardo E, Rizzato A, et al. Clinical and morphological effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in patients with interstitial cystitis associated with fibromyalgia. BMC Urol. 2019;19:108. PMID: 31690286
- 65. Gallego-Vilar D, Garcia-Fadrique G, Povo-Martin I, et al. Maintenance of the response to dimethyl sulfoxide treatment using hyperbaric oxygen in interstitial cystits/painful bladder syndrome. Urol Int. 2013;90:411-6. PMID: 23485788
- Meister MR, Sutcliffe S, Ghetti C, et al. Development of a standardized, reproducible screening examination for the assessment of pelvic floor myofascial pain. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019:220:255.e1-255.e9. PMID: 30527941
- Srinivasan AK, Kaye JD, Moldwin R. Myofascial dynfunction associated with chronic pelvic floor pain: management strategies. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2007;11:359-64. PMID 17894926.
- 68. Ross V, Detterman C, Hallisey A. Myofascial pelvic pain: an overlooked and treatable cause of pelvic pain. J

Midwifery Womens Health. 2021;66:148-160. PMID: 33788379

- Adams K, Gregory WT, Osmundsen B, et al. Levator myalgia: why bother? Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24:1687-93. PMID: 23575699
- Kavvadias T, Baessler K, Schuessler B. Pelvic pain in urogynaecology. Part I: evaluation, definitions and diagnoses. Int Urogynecol J. 2011;22:385-93. PMID: 20645076.
- Mazza DF, Boutin RD, Chaudhari AJ. Assessment of myofascial trigger points via imaging: a systematic review. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2021;100:1003-1014. PMID: 33990485.
- Pignatti Frederice C, Oliveria Brito LG, Varella Pereira GM, et al. Interventional treatment for myofascial pelvic floor pain in women. Int Urogynecol J. 2021;32:1087-1096. PMID: 33640993
- Rogalski MJ, Kellogg-Spadt S, Hoffmann AR, et al. Retrospective chart review of vaginal diazepam suppository use in high-tone pelvic floor dysfunction. Int Urogynecol J;21:895-9. PMID: 20066399
- Carrico DJ, Peters KM. Vaginal diazepam use with urogenital pain/pelvic floor dysfunction: serum diazepam levIs and efficacy data. Urol Nurs. 2011;31:279-84. PMID: 22073898
- Fuentes-Marquez P, Cabrera-Martos I, Valenz MC. Physiotherapy interventions for patients with chronic pelvic pain. Physiother Theory Pract. 2019;35:1131-38. PMID: 29757068
- Van Reijn-Baggen DA, Han-Geurts IJM, Voorham-van der Zalm PJ, et al. Pelvic floor physical therapy for pelvic floor hypertonicity. Sex Med Rev. 2022;10:209-230. PMID: 34127429
- 77. FitzGerald MP< Payne CK, Yang CC, et al. Randomized multicenter clinical trial of myofascial physical therapy in women with interstitial cystitis/painful bladder syndrome

and pelvic floor tenderness. J Urol. 2012;187:2113-8. PMID: 22503015

- Cornel EB, van Haarst EP, Browning-Groote Schaarsberg RWM, et al. The effect of biofeedback physical therapy in men with chronic pelvic pain syndrome type III. Eur Urol. 2005;47:607-11. PMID: 15826751
- Desai MJ, Bean MC, Heckman TW, et al. Treatment of myofascial pain. Pain Manag. 2013;3:67-79. PMID: 24645933
- Spruijt MA, Klerkx WM, Kelder JC, et al. The effeciacy of botulinum toxin A injections in pelvic floor muscles in chronic pelvic pain patients. Int Urogynecol J. 2022;33:2951-61. PMID: 35362767
- Meister MR, Brubaker A, Sutcliffe S, et al. Effectiveness of botulinum toxin for treatment of symptomatic pelvic floor myofascial pain in women. Female Pelvic Med Reconst Surg. 2021;27:e152-e160. PMID: 32301801
- Jarvis SK, Abbott JA, Lenar MB, et al. Pilot study of botulinum toxin type A in the treatment of chronic pelvic pain associated with spasm of the levator ani muscles. Aust NZJ Obstet Gynaecol. 2004;44:46-50. PMID: 15089868
- Morrissey D, El-Khawand D, Ginzburg N, et al. Muscles under electromyographic guidance for women with refractory high-tone pelvic floor dysfunction: A 6-month prospective pilot study. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015;21:277-82. PMID: 25900057
- Adelowo A, Hacker MR, Shapiro A, et al. Botulinum toxin type A (BOTOX) for refractory myofascial pelvic pain. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2013;19:288-92. PMID: 23982578
- Dessie SG, Bargen EV, Hacker MR, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of onabotulinumtoxin A trigger point injections for myofascial pelvic pain. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2019;22:517.e1-517.e9. PMID: 31254522

Section 7: Health Disparities

Health Disparities

Background

Health disparities are differences in health in defined groups of people who experience social, economic, demographic, or geographic disadvantage and experience greater health risks or worse health outcomes compared to groups that are positioned in society to have greater advantage.¹⁻⁴ Examples of groups who have endured health inequities include those with low socioeconomic status, those from racial/ethnic minority groups, and women and other groups who have collectively experienced disadvantage or systemic discrimination.¹⁻⁴ Numerous studies have demonstrated that health disparities directly lead to significant personal burden (including morbidity and mortality) as well as increased economic burden on a population level.⁵⁻¹⁰

Health disparities in the care of pelvic floor disorders (PFD) is a prevalent issue worldwide, notably affecting specific racial and ethnic groups. Racial/ethnic health inequities in PFD care are specific to barriers to care, care-seeking behaviors, and treatment/management of PFDs.¹¹⁻²⁸

While we know these disparities exist, the understanding of these inequities remains poor given small cohort study sizes, lack of data collection on race/ethnicity and social and structural determinants of health, and the vast differences in research methodologies limiting opportunities for pooled analyses of existing data. Without a sound understanding of the disparities that drive health inequity, development and utilization of interventions to eliminate disparities will be ineffective.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Research Gaps:

✓ A major contributor to the perpetuation of racial/ethnic minority health disparities is the lack of diverse racial/ethnic representation in research; both with subjects and investigators. Multiple studies demonstrate the severe lack of diversity in participant cohorts for federally funded research studies which are often used to shape and generate the development of clinical guideline recommendations.^{11,25, 29-31} The absence of diversity in research subjects may result in findings from a narrow population being mis-applied to a broader, more diverse population. Health inequities may lead to worse outcomes which will be missed if diverse populations are not included in research.

Race is a social construct and a rough proxy for several conditions and policies that determine allocation of resources and opportunities that inevitably impact health. Race/ethnicity are often recorded using the categories assigned by the United States Census Bureau. This categorization may not be representative of how a participant views oneself, and this limits interpretation of what these constructs mean given the broad inclusion into each racial/ethnic category. The majority of health disparities research focuses on recording the disparity, and there is an absence of research regarding the way to bring about health equity for PFDs.

Recommendations:

- ✓ Promote racial/ethnic representation in research studies through directing efforts towards diverse recruitment and retention in large studies that will inform clinical guideline development.
- ✓ Strengthen relationships/collaborations with community partners that will in turn optimize education on PFDs to the public, increase access for community members to PFD providers and, ultimately, create partnerships that provide opportunity to engage in collaborative, inclusive research.
- Craft research questions and select research methodologies that center populations of interest and allow for investigations of structural determinants of health that can become targets of policy interventions.
- Emphasize research that centers the voices and perspectives of groups that experience health inequities.
- ✓ Utilize a framework within research design that comprehensively captures a broad spectrum of variables (inclusive of social determinants of health as well as biologic, physical, environmental, and demographic factors) that influence health outcomes and policy interventions; this will enrich data used for analyses that can better address research questions aimed to narrow health disparities and achieve health equity. With respect to racial/health inequities in particular, frameworks should acknowledge and explore the contribution of racism in health care settings and the lives of people from racial/ethnic groups of interest.

✓ Prioritize research that seeks paths to improve and achieve health equity over projects with a primary aim to categorize or describe disparity.

- 1. Braveman P. Health disparities and health equity: concepts and measurement. Annu Rev Public Health. 2006;27:167–194. PMID: 16533114
- Braveman P, Gottlieb L. The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. Public Health Rep. 2014 Feb;129 Suppl 2:19–31. PMID: 24385661
- Braveman PA, Kumanyika S, Fielding J, et al. Health disparities and health equity: the issue is justice. Am J Public Health. 2011;101 Suppl 1:S149–55. PMID: 21551385
- Wallace J, Jiang K, Goldsmith-Pinkham P, et al. Changes in racial and ethnic disparities in access to care and health among US adults at age 65 years. JAMA Intern Med. 2021;181(9):1207–1215. PMID: 34309621
- LaVeist TA, Thorpe RJ, Galarraga JE, et al. Environmental and socio-economic factors as contributors to racial disparities in diabetes prevalence. J Gen Intern Med. 2009;24(10):1144–1148. PMID: 19685264
- Gaskin DJ, Price A, Brandon DT, et al. Segregation and disparities in health services use. Med Care Res Rev. 2009;66(5):578–589. PMID: 19460811
- Xin H. Editorial: Health Disparities-An Important Public Health Policy Concern. Front Public Health. 2017;5:99. PMID: 28516084
- LaVeist TA. Disentangling race and socioeconomic status: a key to understanding health inequalities. J Urban Health. 2005;82(2 Suppl 3):iii26–34. PMID: 15933328
- Bell CN, Thorpe RJ, Bowie JV, et al. Race disparities in cardiovascular disease risk factors within socioeconomic status strata. Ann Epidemiol. 2018;28(3):147–152. PMID: 29317176
- Wang E, Glazer KB, Sofaer S, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in severe maternal morbidity: A qualitative study of women's experiences of peripartum care. Women's Health Issues. 2021;31(1):75–81. PMID: 33069559
- Brown O, Siddique M, Mou T, et al. Disparity of racial/ethnic representation in publications contributing to overactive bladder diagnosis and treatment guidelines. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2021;27(9):541–546. PMID: 33252364
- Coyne KS, Margolis MK, Kopp ZS, et al. Racial differences in the prevalence of overactive bladder in the United States from the epidemiology of LUTS (EpiLUTS) study. Urology. 2012;79(1):95–101. PMID: 22055692
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Bell JA, et al. The prevalence of lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS) and overactive bladder (OAB) by racial/ethnic group and age: results from OAB-POLL. Neurourol Urodyn. 2013;32(3):230–237. PMID: 22847394
- Mckellar K, Bellin E, Schoenbaum E, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and treatment for overactive bladder in a racially diverse population. Urology. 2019 Apr;126:70–75. PMID: 30597170

- Mandimika CL, Murk W, Mcpencow AM, et al. Racial Disparities in Knowledge of Pelvic Floor Disorders Among Community-Dwelling Women. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015 Oct;21(5):287–292. PMID: 26313495
- 16. Suskind AM, Quanstrom K, Zhao S, et al. Overactive bladder is strongly associated with frailty in older individuals. Urology. 2017;106:26–31. PMID: 28502833
- Siddiqui NY, Levin PJ, Phadtare A, et al. Perceptions about female urinary incontinence: a systematic review. Int Urogynecol J. 2014;25(7):863–871. PMID: 24310988
- Rezaee ME, Ward CE, Gross MS. Differences in healthcare expenditures, visits, and prescriptions by race for common benign urologic conditions. Urology. 2022;162:70-76. PMID: 34242630
- Willis-Gray MG, Sandoval JS, Maynor J, et al. Barriers to urinary incontinence care seeking in White, Black, and Latina women. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015;21(2):83–86. PMID: 25185610
- Tellechea L, Zuo S, Kohn JR, et al. The effect of social determinants of health on overactive bladder symptom severity. J Urol. 2021;205(5):1415–1420. PMID: 33350322
- Thom DH, van den Eeden SK, Ragins AI, et al. Differences in prevalence of urinary incontinence by race/ethnicity. J Urol. 2006;175(1):259–264. PMID: 16406923
- Syan R, Zhang CA, Enemchukwu EA. Racial and socioeconomic factors influence utilization of advanced therapies in commercially insured OAB patients: an analysis of over 800,000 OAB patients. Urology. 2020;142:81–86. PMID: 32439551
- Dunivan GC, Komesu YM, Cichowski SB, et al. Elder American Indian women's knowledge of pelvic floor disorders and barriers to seeking care. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2015;21(1):34–38. PMID: 25185612
- Douglass KM, Grisales T, Coca N, et al. Health care disparities among latina patients presenting with pelvic organ prolapse. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2022;28:608-615. PMID: 35759777
- Gonzalez DC, Khorsandi S, Mathew M, et al. A systematic review of racial/ethnic disparities in female pelvic floor disorders. Urology. 2022 May;163:8–15. PMID: 34627869
- Boyd B, Guaderrama N, Mishra K, et al. Health inequities within the field of urogynecology. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2022 Aug 16; PMID: 36036463
- Ringel NE, Brown O, Moore KJ, et al. Disparities in complications after prolapse repair and sling procedures: Trends from 2010-2018. Urology. 2021;160-81-86. PMID: 34800479
- Berger MB, Patel DA, Miller JM, et al. Racial differences in self-reported healthcare seeking and treatment for urinary incontinence in community-dwelling women from the EPI Study. Neurourol Urodyn. 2011;30(8):1442–1447. PMID: 21717504
- 29. Brown O, Simon MA. Applying a health equity lens to urinary incontinence. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2021;64(2):266–275. PMID: 33859095
- Grimes CL, Clare CA, Meriwether KV, Husk K, Rogers RG. Inadequacy and underreporting of study subjects' race and ethnicity in federally funded pelvic floor research. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2021 Nov;225(5):562.e1–562.e6. PMID: 34464584

National Urogynecology Research Agenda

 Mckay ER, Davila JL, Lee JA, et al. Representation of minority groups in key pelvic floor disorder trials. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2021;27(10):602–608. PMID: 34554142

Section 8: Moving Beyond Multidisciplinary Research

Background

Groundbreaking solutions to the problems challenging women with pelvic floor disorders are exceedingly complex, requiring sophisticated and still vet undiscovered novel approaches to study design, measurement tools, and data analysis that exceed the capabilities of a single discipline. In this way, the future of foundational mechanistic discoveries as well as pragmatic solutions to pelvic floor disorders requires integrating the expertise and perspectives of individuals from a broad range of disciplines. The value of a team with multiple experts from different fields who collaborate to answer critical questions is a clear path to having the greatest impact on the field; however, the approach to do this is not straightforward and requires understanding differences between three commonly used terms.¹ The first, "multidisciplinary research," describes an approach that brings together individuals from different disciplines to solve a problem with each contributing knowledge from their respective disciplines in an additive fashion but not moving beyond respective disciplines. The second, "interdisciplinary research," similarly integrates information, data, techniques, and tools from two or more disciplines, but moves to advance understanding beyond the scope and boundaries of any single discipline or practice to explain more complex phenomena and generate novel therapeutic approaches and solutions in an integrative (as opposed to additive) fashion. The third, "transdisciplinary research," considered the most transformational, elevates interdisciplinary studies to an even higher level by creating a new discipline with a novel Transdisciplinary conceptual framework. research enables innovations that pave the path to paradigmshifting discoveries. Conceptually, the field of urogynecology is an example of a transdisciplinary subspecialty as it is defined by the core principles of gynecology and urology, and supplemented by input from gastroenterology. colorectal surgery, geriatrics. neurology, biomechanics, radiology, and physical rehabilitation. A similar approach to research in urogynecology would necessitate collaborations between scientists and clinicians via a multi-scalar "team science" approach, originating at the molecular level, extending up

to cells, tissues, organs, and individuals, while taking into account environmental and psychosocial determinants of health. Capitalizing on the skills of multiple experts from various areas of science and medicine would allow our field to make substantial leaps forward, while potentially affecting policy changes relevant to women's health.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Encourage Collaborations

Research Gap: The field of urogynecology, and our patients, continue to suffer from significant scientific disparities compared to many other disciplines. In this era of rapidly evolving sophisticated techniques, the transdisciplinary research is urgently needed to improve our understanding of the mechanisms responsible for pathogenesis of pelvic floor disorders.

Recommendations:

- Elevate the science to a transdisciplinary platform and step out of a siloed research model, which arguably has put us far behind other fields.
- Encourage collaborations from experts outside of our field, adapt their measurement tools and methods to develop novel ones, and then validate them in our system(s).
- ✓ Prioritize national meetings' content from experts in outside fields and shift from a high emphasis on clinical outcomes to placing an equal value on translational and basic research.
- Publish outside of specialty journals and obtain joint appointments in other schools within their academic centers.
- Encourage national societies to use their internal funding mechanisms and partner with outside funding agencies and science policy experts to foster inter- and trans-disciplinary approaches to research.²
- ✓ Generate support from national societies and funding agencies to achieve the potential value of inter- and trans-disciplinarity.³
- ✓ Disseminate information that affords wide-spread awareness of these critical processe

- Alperin M, Abramowitch S, Alarab M, et al. Foundational science and mechanistic insights for a shared disease model: an expert consensus. Developed by the AUGS Basic Science Subcommittee and IUGA Special Interest Group. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg. 2022;28:347-350. PMID: 35609252
- Convergence: Facilitating Transdisciplinary Integration of Life Sciences, Physical Sciences, Engineering, and Beyond. Committee on Key Challenge Areas for Convergence and Health; Board on Life Sciences; Division on Earth and Life Studies; National Research Council. The National Academies Collection. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US);2014 Jun 16. PMID: 24830066
- Lyall C, Bruce A, Marsden W, et al. The role of funding agencies in creating interdisciplinary knowledge, *Science* and *Public Policy*, Volume 40, Issue 1, February 2013, Pages 62–71, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scs121</u>

Section 9: Training Future Scientists

Background

Concerns around the physician-scientist workforce arose as early as the 1970s, when the director of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) characterized physicianscientists with an MD degree as an "endangered species."1 Over subsequent decades, efforts were made to foster the development and retention of physicianscientists. Despite these efforts, in 2014 the NIH Physician-Scientist Workforce Working Group reported persistent deficits in the workforce, with particular concerns related to the aging population of physicianscientists and persistent inequities related to grants awarded to researchers from backgrounds traditionally underrepresented in medicine.¹ Given that developing retaining physician-scientists from and diverse backgrounds is critical in fulfilling AUGS' vision of eliminating the impact of pelvic floor disorders on women's quality of life, identifying and eliminating barriers along the physician-scientist training pathway is integral to our mission.

Research Priorities and Opportunities

Aging Workforce

Training Gap: The average age of the physician-scientist workforce has increased over the past several decades, with there being 1.6 more physician-scientists over the age of 61 years compared to those under the age of 50 years.²

Recommendations:

- ✓ Expand funding and mentorship opportunities to support early- and mid-career researchers.
- Promote formalized research training during postgraduate medical education, as prior studies have found an association with the presence of research education and pursuit of a career in research.³
- ✓ Strengthen advocacy efforts to ensure ample investment in a physician-scientist workforce with expertise in pelvic floor disorders.
- Quantify and recognize the time and effort invested by mentors, such that junior investigators can benefit from their insight and expertise.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

Representation Gap: Investigators from backgrounds traditionally underrepresented in medicine continue to face disproportionate barriers to advancement in physician-scientist career pathways. There is persistent underrepresentation of researchers who self-identify as African American and Indigenous American among recipients of federal research funding.¹ Furthermore, there is inadequate reporting on the representation of sexual and gender minorities, and those from economically disadvantaged backgrounds.

Recommendations:

- Create equity-centered mentorship and funding opportunities.
- Implement outreach and pipeline efforts in communities to increase awareness and accessibility of physician-scientist career pathways.
- Generate networking opportunities and infrastructure to support underrepresented colleagues.
- Improve socioeconomic data collection from training program and grant applicants and awardees.

- Feldman AM. The National Institutes of Health Physician-Scientist Workforce Working Group report: a roadmap for preserving the physician-scientist. Clin Transl Sci. 2014 Aug;7(4):289-90. doi: 10.1111/cts.12209. PMID: 25123835.
- Blish CA. Maintaining a Robust Pipeline of Future Physician-Scientists. J Infect Dis. 2018 Aug 14;218(suppl_1):S40-S43. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy093. PMID: 30124975.
- Andriole DA, Klingensmith ME, Fields RC, Jeffe DB. Is Dedicated Research Time During Surgery Residency Associated With Surgeons' Future Career Paths?: A National Study. Ann Surg. 2020 Mar;271(3):590-597. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000003015. PMID: 30829693.

About AUGS

The American Urogynecologic Society (AUGS) is the premier non-profit organization representing professionals dedicated to treating female pelvic floor disorders. Founded in 1979, AUGS represents more than 2,000 members, including practicing physicians, nurse practitioners, physical therapists, nurses and health care professionals, and researchers from many disciplines.

Mission Statement

As the leader in urogynecology, AUGS drives excellence in comprehensive care for women with pelvic floor disorders.

Vision Statement

To eliminate the impact of pelvic floor disorders on a woman's quality of life.

Contact

To learn more, visit <u>www.augs.org</u>. Please direct all inquiries to AUGS Interim Chief Executive Officer, Stacey Barnes, at <u>board@augs.org</u>.

